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Purpose…
“The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service is highly
valued by the people of Northern Ireland.  It exists to
improve their health and well being, and applies the
highest levels of human knowledge and skill to
preserve life, prevent deterioration and promote
recovery.  The Ambulance Service touches lives at
times of basic human need, when care and
compassion are what matter most.”

Mission...
“The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service will provide
safe, effective, high-quality, patient-focussed care and
services to improve health and well being by
preserving life, preventing deterioration and
promoting recovery”

Vision…
“Improved health and well being for the Northern
Ireland community through safe, effective, high-
quality care and services provided by the Northern
Ireland Ambulance Service as an integral part of the
whole healthcare system”

Values...
Our values provide common ground for co operation
to achieve shared aspirations. In adopting and
endorsing these values, the Northern Ireland
Ambulance Service commits to “living” those values
every day in our engagement with patients, public and
colleagues providing healthcare services.

Respect and Dignity 
We value each person as an individual, respect their
aspirations and commitments in life, and seek to
understand their priorities, needs, abilities and limits.
We take what others have to say seriously. We are
honest about our point of view and what we can and
cannot do. 

Commitment to quality of care 
We earn the trust placed in us by insisting on quality
and striving to get the basics right every time: safety,
confidentiality, professional and managerial integrity,
accountability, dependable service and good
communication.  We welcome feedback, learn from
our mistakes and build on our successes. 

Compassion
We respond with humanity and kindness to each
person’s pain, distress, anxiety or need.  We search for
the things we can do, however small, to give comfort
and relieve suffering.  We find time for those we serve
and work alongside.  We do not wait to be asked,
because we care. 

Improving lives 
We strive to improve health and well-being and
people’s experiences of the health service.  We value
excellence and professionalism wherever we find it –
in the everyday things that make people’s lives better
as much as in clinical practice, service improvements
and innovation. 

Working together for patients 
We put patients first in everything we do, by reaching
out to staff, patients, carers, families, communities and
professionals within and outside the health service.
We put the needs of patients and communities before
organisational boundaries. 

Everyone counts 
We use our resources for the benefit of the whole
community, and make sure nobody is excluded or left
behind.  We accept that some people need more help,
that difficult decisions have to be taken – and that when
we waste resources we waste others’ opportunities.  We
recognise that we all have a part to play in making
ourselves and our communities healthier. 

Strategic Aims...

To deliver a safe, high-quality ambulance service
providing emergency and non-emergency clinical care
and transportation which is appropriate, accessible,
timely and effective.
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To achieve best outcomes for patients using all
resources while ensuring high quality corporate
governance, risk management and probity.
To engage with local communities and their
representatives in addressing issues which affect their
health, and participate fully in the development and
delivery of responsive integrated services.

Strategic Objectives...

Further develop the service delivery model for
scheduled and unscheduled care and transportation to
address rural issues and exploit partnership
opportunities.

Review and develop operational systems and processes
to support the service delivery model and provide
necessary assurances of appropriateness, accessibility,
timeliness and effectiveness.

Build and maintain a high-performing, appropriately
skilled and educated workforce, suitably equipped and
fit for the purpose of delivering safe, high-quality
ambulance services.

Promote and develop an open, transparent and just
culture focussed on patients and patient safety.
Establish and develop agreed outcome-based, clinical
and non-clinical, quality indicators for patients to
identify opportunities to improve outcomes for
patients and pursue the resources and processes
necessary to deliver better outcomes.

Review existing resources and ensure resource
utilisation is aligned with delivery of agreed outcome-
based quality indicators for patients and high quality
corporate governance, risk management and probity.
Establish processes, built around our Personal and
Public Involvement (PPI) strategy, to enable effective
communication and engagement with all our
communities and their representatives.

Use those PPI processes to clarify the ambulance role,
function and resource with the community and
agencies responsible for setting policy and
commissioning ambulance services, and test this
against their perceived/assessed needs and
expectations.

Work with all stakeholders, in particular regional and
local commissioners and other providers of health and
social care services, to establish processes to enable
and support full participation of the ambulance
service in the development and delivery of responsive
integrated health services.
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I was very pleased to be re-appointed Chairman by the
Minister in October 2012 for a further 4 year term.
This will allow me to see further developments
contained within the NI Ambulance Service 2011-14
Corporate Plan and the annual Trust Delivery Plans
together with progress on “Transforming Your Care”,
the Health and Social Care Board’s strategic plan for
health and social care services for NI over the next 5-
10 years.

Following the close of consultation on Transforming
Your Care the HSC Board issued its “Vision to Action”
Report in March 2013.  This document sets out,
subject to Ministerial approval, how the plan will be
put into action and in particular the shift of some
services which are presently provided in an acute
hospital setting to be provided in the future as
community services.  Integral to a number of the
changes to be implemented is the role of the
Ambulance Service.  While it is proposed that no acute
hospital will close, hospitals will work in networks
with neighbouring hospitals.  This could mean that
there will be fewer Accident & Emergency centres in
the Province offering twenty four hours a day, seven
days a week procedures for all conditions and some
patients may have to be transported slightly further to
receive appropriate and safe treatment. 

The Ambulance Service made some innovative
proposals to this consultation aimed at reducing ever
increasing pressure on A&E.  These include a ‘111’
telephone number service for urgent and unscheduled
care which is deemed not to be an emergency.  This
would be operated as a twenty four hours a day, seven
days a week service to work alongside emergency 999
calls to our state-of-the-art emergency control centre.
While there has been some negative publicity to the
implementation of 111 in England and in particular
around the rate of implementation we would ensure
that there are robust protocols in place for the
initiative to achieve its desired outcome to reduce the
number of patients presenting at A&E and having to
wait excessive time for diagnosis and treatment. 

During the year the Minister appointed two new Non
Executive Directors to the NIAS Board.  Dr Jim
Livingstone joined in November 2012 following a
long and successful career in the civil service which
included over 10 years with the Department of Health,
Social Services and Public Safety until his retirement.
In December 2012 Mr Robin Mullan, who is Chief
Executive of Peamount hospital in Dublin, was also
appointed and this brings the Board to its full
complement of Executive and Non Executive
Directors.  Sadly in August 2012 Mr Seamus Shields,
Non Executive Director, passed away following a long
illness which he fought bravely over many years.
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This year has been very challenging in a number of
respects.  In total we carried out over 350,000 patient
transports of which over 116,000 were emergency
calls, an increase of 4% over last year.  Demand
increases year-on-year as the population grows and in
particular the growth in the number of older citizens,
many of whom have long term conditions.  Demand
also increases as other Trusts reconfigure service
provision, especially A&E. On top of this we are
experiencing longer turnaround times at hospitals to
free ambulances to respond to further calls.  While
demand is increasing, on the other hand financial
resources are decreasing in real terms.  Once again the
Trust is within a tranche of budget cuts and while we
accommodated a reduction of £1.2 million this year
we are required to make a cumulative budget cut of
over £3 million by 2014/15, which is very challenging.
While I am pleased that the Trust achieved financial
break-even again this year we experienced a small
reduction in performance in response times for
Category A emergencies as resources are stretched
further.  Performance will continue to be a major focus 
of attention in the forthcoming year.

I have been very pleased with the progress this year in
the expansion of out-of-hospital treatment which has
prevented some patients having to be admitted to
hospital.  Conditions which can be treated by
paramedics in the home or community include 
some long-term respiratory conditions and
hypoglycaemia and a trial is under way for patients
who suffer from falls.

One of my more pleasant tasks as Chairman is
representing the organisation of which I am
immensely proud.  Each year I enjoy the long service
medal awards as it is an opportunity to meet front-line
and back-up staff and in particular their families who
facilitate the round-the-clock service we provide.  This
year was very special in that in June I accompanied
some staff from the Western Division in meeting the
Queen at the official opening of the new South West
Acute Hospital in Enniskillen.  The Queen spent some
time chatting to staff who a few days earlier
transported many patients from the Erne Hospital to
the new hospital.  The Queen has also provided a new
medal from this year, the Queens Ambulance Medal
(QAM), for service by emergency ambulance staff
across the UK.  There was an allocation of 1 QAM to
Northern Ireland and this was awarded to Brian
McNeill, Director of Operations.  I wish to add my
personal congratulations to this well-deserved award
to Brian who, along with the Executive team, is
having to see through the many changes the Service is
making to accommodate ever increasing demand
coupled with reductions in budget.  Well done, Brian.

Mr P Archer
Chairman
13 June 2013
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The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service (NIAS) was
established by the Northern Ireland Ambulance
Service Health and Social Services Trust
(Establishment) Order (Northern Ireland) 1995 as
amended by the Health and Social Services Trusts
(Establishment) (Amendment ) Order (Northern
Ireland ) 2008 and the section 1 of the Health and
Social Care (Reform) Act (Northern Ireland ) 2009.

NIAS responds to the needs of a population in
Northern Ireland in excess of 1.8 million people in the
pre-hospital environment.  It directly employs in
excess of 1,100 staff, across 59 ambulance
stations/deployment points, two Ambulance Control
Centres (Emergency and Non-Emergency), a Regional
Education & Training Centre and Headquarters. NIAS
has an operational area of approximately 5,450 square
miles, serviced by a fleet of 313 ambulance vehicles.

We provide ambulance care, treatment and
transportation services to the people of Northern
Ireland twenty four hours per day, seven days per
week, and three hundred and sixty five days per year.             
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The principal ambulance services we provide are:

Emergency response to patients with sudden
illness and injury. In addition to providing timely
ambulance response and transportation to hospital
we offer clinical triage and advice to non-
emergency callers and offer alternatives to hospital
attendance and emergency ambulance response.

Non-emergency patient care and transportation.
The journeys undertaken cover admissions,
hospital outpatient appointments, discharges and
inter-hospital transfers and we seek to prioritise on
the basis of clinical condition with high priority
accorded to cancer, renal and terminally-ill
patients.

Specialised health transport services. We liaise
directly with clinical professionals in N Ireland and
beyond in an effort to ensure seamless movement
of patients with specialist health needs such as
organ transplant and access to critical/intensive
care facilities.

Education and training of ambulance
professionals.  We are solely responsible for the
recruitment and training of ambulance
professionals up to and including Health and Care
Professions Council registered paramedics in N
Ireland.

Co-ordination of planning for major events and
response to mass casualty incidents and
disasters. We have a defined role to play in the
assessment of major events and in co-ordinating
the health response to major incidents.

Community engagement and education. We
seek through engagement with the public and
specifically our community education programme
to raise awareness of the role we play in society,
ensure that our service is recognised and valued,
and support and educate the public on how they
can access and use the service effectively.  In
addition, we seek to build and maintain confidence
in the ambulance service.
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The Trust Board is made up of six Non-Executive
Directors, and five Executive Directors.  The Trust
Board meets every two months (generally on the
fourth Thursday) in public venues across Northern
Ireland and an annual general meeting is held in
September.  Arrangements for public meetings are
published in the local press and Trust website to
encourage public attendance and the agenda is widely
circulated.  Non-Executive Directors form the
membership of the three Trust Board Committees: 
The Remuneration Committee; The Audit Committee;
The Assurance Committee. 

The Audit committee provides assurance of effective
internal financial controls including the management
of associated risks. 

The Assurance committee provides assurance of
effective controls in non-financial matters including
the management of associated risks.  

The Remuneration Committee reviews performance
and makes recommendations to Trust Board for the
remuneration of senior executives.
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MEMBERSHIP OF TRUST BOARD AND COMMITTEES & RECORD OF ATTENDANCE OF MEMBERS

Member Designation Trust Board Audit Assurance Remuneration 
Committee Committee Committee

Mr Paul Archer Chairman 8 out of 8 – 2 out of 4 5 out of 5

Professor Non-Executive 8 out of 8 4 out of 4 4 out of 4 –
Mary Hanratty, CBE Director

Mr Norman McKinley Non-Executive 8 out of 8 4 out of 4 4 out of 4 –
Director

Mr Seamus Shields Non-Executive 2 out of 3 1 out of 1 – 1 out of 2
(Deceased) Director (to Aug 2012)

Ms Angela Paisley Non-Executive 7 out of 8 4 out of 4 4 out of 4 5 out of 5
Director

Dr James Livingstone Non-Executive 3 out of 4 – 2 out of 2 2 out of 2
Director

(from Nov 2012)

Mr Robin Mullan Non-Executive 2 out of 3 – 2 out of 2 2 out of 2
Director

(from Dec 2012)

Mr Liam McIvor Chief Executive 7 out of 8 – – –

Mr Brian McNeill Director of 8 out of 8 – – –
Operations

Dr David McManus Medical Director 7 out of 8 – – –

Mrs Sharon McCue Director of Finance 8 out of 8 – – –
and Information
Communications
Technology

Ms Roisin O’Hara Director of Human 7 out of 8 – – –
Resources & Corporate

Services



Audit & Assurance

A declaration of board members interests has been
completed and is available on request from the Chief
Executive’s Office, Northern Ireland Ambulance
Service, Knockbracken Healthcare Park, Saintfield
Road, Belfast, BT8 8SG.

The responsibility for audit of the Trust rests with the
Northern Ireland Audit Office and was delivered by
KPMG.  The accounts include a non-cash charge of
£22,548 for the statutory audit of the 2012/13 annual
accounts (Public and Charitable Funds).  In addition to
this amount, during the year the Trust received services
from the Northern Ireland Audit Office to the value of
£1,119.  This was in respect of fees for the National
Fraud Initiative 2012/13 exercise.  No other audit or non
audit services were provided in 2012/13. All directors
have confirmed that, to the best of their knowledge, 

There is no relevant audit information of which the
Trust’s auditors are unaware.

They have taken steps as directors in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to ensure that auditors are aware of that
information.

The Chief Executive and relevant committees have
confirmed that the Trust’s auditors have been made
aware of any relevant audit information available.

The Trust is not aware of any significant personal data
related incidents during 2012/13. 

Equality & Good Relations

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service is committed
to the promotion of equality of opportunity and good
relations in fulfilment of its duties under Section 75 of
the Northern Ireland Act 1998 and other equality
legislation.  The Trust continues to discharge these
duties through implementation of its Equality Scheme
which includes working with trade union colleagues,
other HSC organisations, emergency services and
Section 75 representative groups. 

In compliance with Section 49A of the Disability
Discrimination Act 1995 (DDA 1995) (as amended by
Article 5 of the Disability Discrimination (Northern
Ireland) Order 2006) the Northern Ireland Ambulance
Service’s Disability Action Plan (developed during
2012/13) outlines the Trusts plans to promote positive
attitudes to disabled people and involve disabled
people in public life.

The Trust is involved in regional work streams with
other HSC Trusts and representative groups from the
disability sector to implement these duties and
continues to engage with these and the Equality
Commission in respect of the further development of
work in this area.  In addition the Trust is fully
committed to complying with its duties under the
Disability Discrimination Act to make reasonable
adjustments as appropriate for employees who have a
disability.
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The annual report is introduced by the purpose,
mission, vision and values of the Northern Ireland
Ambulance Service reflected in our Corporate Plan
2011-2014.  These are very important and powerful
statements which direct our actions and intentions.
However at its core is a simple and straight forward
message...“NIAS seeks to provide safe, high quality
ambulance services that meet the needs and
expectations of the people of Northern Ireland as
effectively as possible within the resources available”.

We continue to highlight within this report the
financial constraints within which we operate – we
spend less than ten pence per person per day on our
ambulance service in Northern Ireland.  Investment in
ambulance services in Northern Ireland is £35 per
person per year, which is one of the lowest in the UK.
While this clearly does not reflect the value which the
Northern Ireland community place on their
ambulance service, it is one indication of the priority
placed on our collective health and well-being.  As we
move deeper into a difficult financial environment,
we will have even more cause to consider the value we
place on our ambulance service and the investment
we wish to make in pre-hospital care.

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service has achieved
a great deal in recent years which provides a strong,
stable platform on which to build the Service to meet
the challenges we face.  NIAS has changed greatly
from the organisation of five or ten years ago.  We
have invested heavily in our ambulance personnel by
bringing in new staff, increasing the number of
paramedics we employ and training them in new
clinical skills and interventions.  Ambulance vehicles
are equipped with the best clinical and technology
systems to improve the care we provide to patients.

We continue to invest in our capacity to take 999 calls,
establish the clinical urgency of the call, and quickly
dispatch an appropriate ambulance resource to
respond.  Operating from a single emergency Control
Centre for the whole of Northern Ireland means that
these benefits are felt equally by all and the recent
investments in mobile technology ensure that the
location of ambulances are clearly presented to the
Control Centre officers at all times.  The securing of
DHSSPSNI capital resource funds has supported
ambulance fleet upgrade, by replacing ageing vehicles
on a regular basis over the years with new purpose built
state of the art ambulances and rapid response cars.

The speed of response is a key measure of performance
for any organisation, particularly so for an emergency
ambulance service and we acknowledge, this year, our
inability to maintain the performance achieved in
2011/12.  We are getting to more patients more
quickly than ever before, but increasing demand for
emergency response has impacted heavily on our
capacity to respond promptly.  We averaged a sub 8
minute response to life threatening calls in 68.3 % of
cases throughout Northern Ireland in 2012/13.  We are
absolutely committed to seeking to improve the speed
of our response to the most clinically urgent patients
while providing timely and appropriate services,
including alternatives to hospital attendance, to those
whose need is less immediate.

The whole healthcare system has changed greatly in
recent times, particularly the configuration of
hospitals and acute services.  The Ambulance Service
has engaged directly and positively with other
providers, commissioners and the DHSSPSNI to ensure
that the consequences of these changes have been
recognised and taken account of.  This has resulted in
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investment which has increased ambulance cover in
affected areas and we have also increased the number
of our ambulance response bases in operation.

We have grown as an organisation over this period
and this is reflected in expenditure on ambulance
services which this year exceeded £63m.  We have
deployed our finances to support change and
consolidate service delivery.  We have also reduced
expenditure in key areas over the period to create
greater efficiency and secure value for money.  We will
continue to critically review our expenditure to drive
further efficiencies which we hope will continue to be
used to improve patient care.  In an uncertain and
volatile economic environment the need to choose
wisely is greater than ever.

The report which follows describes what we have done
this year in pursuit of our aims.  Key themes come to
the fore - safe, high quality services; value for money
and probity; investing in the present to secure the
future and dealing with the unexpected as well as the
norm.  We remind ourselves throughout the report of
the positive difference we can make and the value
attached to our efforts by patients and carers. Looking
ahead it is clear that 2013/14 and beyond offers no
indication of respite from the challenges we face,
particularly increasing demand, rising expectations
and less funding.  The clear signal in Transforming
Your Care that the ambulance service has a continuing
and pivotal role to play in future service delivery is
welcomed.  We are keen to play a full and influential
role in both shaping and delivering healthcare in the
future.  As we look to this future we recognise the
necessity to address immediate pressures and
challenges such as Category A response, ambulance
turnaround at hospital, staff issues around meal break

management and grading resolution, achieving
financial balance with sound procurement processes
and prompt payment.  We are absolutely committed
to working with all parties and stakeholders to address
these issues from a patient-centred perspective focused
on the provision of safe, effective, high-quality care
within available resources.

It is the ambulance personnel directly providing the
Ambulance Service who have greatest influence on
those who receive that service.  Our staff operate in all
weathers, in all conditions, anytime day or night to
provide ambulance care and transportation to the
people of Northern Ireland and are highly regarded by
them as a result.  Through this report I pay tribute to
their commitment and dedication and their
application of clinical and non-clinical skills to meet
the needs and expectations of their patients.  I hope
that, you, the reader, will be better able to judge our
performance as an ambulance service through this
report.  I hope also that you will approve of, and
appreciate, our efforts to provide safe, high quality
ambulance services to meet the needs and
expectations of the people of Northern Ireland.

Mr L McIvor
Chief Executive
13 June 2013
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Ambulance Response
to Unscheduled and
Scheduled Calls

A key goal for any ambulance service is to provide a
timely response to those who request assistance.  We
all know and recognise however that of all the 999
calls received only a proportion are actually clinically
urgent and many 999 calls are neither urgent nor
potentially life-threatening.  Our challenge therefore is
to quickly identify those calls which are potentially
life threatening and afford them the highest priority
in terms of speed of response while also giving due
consideration and priority to a timely and appropriate
response to the rest of the calls which are not life
threatening. To this end we differentiate between 999
calls which are potentially life-threatening (Category
A) and those which are not (Category B & C).

NIAS response performance to Category A, potentially
life-threatening 999 calls is subject to scrutiny against
targets established by the Health Minister, through
DHSSPSNI and the Health and Social Care Board
(HSCB).  NIAS performance against targets in Northern
Ireland, measured and reported at Local
Commissioning Group (LCG) level, is illustrated in the
table below.  

This has been a very challenging year for NIAS. We
have worked hard over recent years to improve our
response to Category A 999 calls, and in 2011/12 we
exceeded the target set.  Regrettably, however, we have
not been able to sustain that high level of
performance during 2012/13, due to the pressures on
the unscheduled healthcare system in general and on
the ambulance service in particular.

As in previous years we have achieved an increase
(2%) in the absolute number of Category A calls
responded to within 8 minutes, however, an overall
increase in demand for response to Category A calls of
8.6% means that we only managed to respond to
68.3% of all Category A calls within 8 minutes.  In
addition to the increase in activity, factors such as
emergency department congestion have resulted in
ambulance response capacity being lost in longer
turnaround times for ambulances at hospitals and
longer journey times as patients in ambulances are
diverted past the nearest hospital to one better able to
deal with their need.  We are working with the whole
of the healthcare system to resolve these complex
issues to ensure that ambulances are available to
provide more timely response and transportation for
patients in the community rather than being delayed
at hospital or on their way to hospital.
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RESPONSE PERFORMANCE
CATEGORY A “POTENTIALLY LIFE-THREATENING” 999 CALLS WITH  A SUB-8 MINUTE RESPONSE

2012-13 2011-12 2010-11 2009-10 2008-09

Location Target Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual

N Ireland 72.5% 68.3% 72.7% 69.7% 71.5% 67.5%

Belfast 65.0% 81.7% 87.2% 83.6% 85.6% 83.9%

North 65.0% 61.3% 64.3% 62.2% 62.7% 56.8%

South East 65.0% 62.3% 68.0% 68.2% 68.7% 65.3%

South 65.0% 63.1% 67.7% 62.8% 65.3% 59.1%

West 65.0% 66.7% 70.0% 64.9% 68.7% 63.6%



We have made a major contribution to the ongoing
management of acute service change, particularly in
relation to emergency department closures both
temporary and permanent.  This contribution has
been recognised and commended by our partners in
the process such as HSCB, with particular mention
being made to efforts over the Christmas and new year
period.  We also welcome being invited by the Chief
Medical Officer to take a lead role in the development
of a Community Resuscitation Strategy for Northern
Ireland during 2013/14.  This Ministerial initiative
offers great potential to increase effective intervention
by the whole community in the provision of early
cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and
defibrillation to increase survival rates for out-of-
hospital cardiac arrests. 

Managing Demand

TOP TEN EMERGENCY CATEGORY A CONDITIONS
REPORTED

CHIEF COMPLAINT / DIAGNOSIS N %*

1 CHEST PAIN (Non-Traumatic) 8767 17.7%

2 BREATHING PROBLEMS 7870 15.9%

3 UNCONSCIOUS/ FAINTING (Near) 6838 13.8%

4 EMERGENCY TRANSFER 6186 12.5%

5 CONVULSIONS/ FITTING 3974 8.0%

6 FALLS 2950 5.9%

7 GP CAT A (8 MIN RESPONSE) 2459 5.0%

8 STROKE (CVA) 2182 4.4%

9 CARDIAC/ RESPIRATORY ARREST/ DEATH 1435 2.9%

10 HAEMORRHAGE/ LACERATIONS 1390 2.8%

TOTAL 44051 88.9%

* % of overall total
(i.e. overall includes all other chief complaints/diagnosis)

It is well recognised that the Ambulance Service is
demand-led.  We respond promptly to requests for
assistance.  We differentiate between requests based on
information secured from the caller, prioritising and
categorising calls based on clinical urgency and
perceived need.  We respond most quickly to those in
greatest need.  We also offer alternatives to those who
may not require either ambulance attendance or
transportation to hospital.

During 2012/13 NIAS experienced a 5.7% increase in
emergency calls received, resulting in our dealing with
an average of 385 emergency 999 calls per day.
Overall there was an increase of 3% in ambulance
journeys undertaken as we transported 363,006
patients (equivalent to one person in five of the
population of Northern Ireland).  The changes to the
configuration of acute services over the years, with the
closure of emergency units and the changes to
location of some specialist services means that these
patients are also spending more time in ambulances in
the care of ambulance professionals as a direct result
of the longer journeys required.  The call volume
increase was absorbed, as in previous years, without
additional investment, an issue which we wish to
tackle and address with HSCB commissioners for
2013/14 and beyond.

In seeking to manage demand, we employ doctors in
our emergency control room to identify and offer
alternatives to patients as outlined above.  Our
primary focus in this initiative is to offer and provide
an appropriate alternative to patients whose 999 call
was neither life threatening nor urgent which as well
as providing patients with a more appropriate journey
through the healthcare system also allows emergency
resources to remain available for more serious calls.
Doctors working in our Emergency Control Room
continue to provide callers with advice and
alternatives to an emergency ambulance response and
attendance at a hospital emergency department.
Despite more stringent criteria being introduced
during the year to mitigate potential risk, thus
reducing the categories of calls that are subject to
secondary triage by the doctors, the number of calls
triaged by them has risen by a further 3.7% during the
year with 39% of callers being provided with an
alternative response, representing a rise in year of a
further 2%, compared to the previous year.
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Developing and Improving
Clinical Services

We have signalled in previous reports that the
ambulance service is much more than a patient
transport service. NIAS has a statutory duty of quality
in respect of the services we deliver.  We have invested
heavily in our staff and our equipment to provide
quality clinical assessment, care and intervention to
the people of Northern Ireland.  We will continue to
develop the skills and scope of practice of ambulance
staff to enable them to meet the growing and
developing needs of patients.  

In keeping with the implementation of “Transforming
Your Care”, a review of health and social care in
Northern Ireland, to support the move of care closer
to home through diagnosis and treatment of injuries
and illnesses in the community, NIAS has introduced a
number of alternative care pathways for the
management of defined clinical conditions.  A “treat
and leave” protocol relating to the management of
acute hypoglycaemia in patients with diabetes was
introduced during 2012/13. A&E vehicles including
Rapid Response Vehicles (RRVs) have been issued with
the protocol which is intended as a safety checklist for
crews to advise which patients may be safely left at
home following treatment, and rather than being a
simple directive of non-transport of such patients,
takes into account the patient’s consent, their
understanding of their illness and their risk of
developing further similar episodes.  Further
documentation is left with the patient for forwarding
to their GP in order to inform decisions about longer
term management.

Based on experience in other UK ambulance services,
the management of patients who have been
successfully treated for acute hypoglycaemia offers the
greatest benefit in terms of patients remaining at
home, while also having the fewest adverse incidents,
but the process is being closely monitored and audited
with the results forwarded to operational staff and
used to refine the process.

In conjunction with the Southern HSC Trust, NIAS also
commenced a pilot of a “treat and refer” protocol for
falls occurring in the elderly population in the SHSCT
area. In NIAS, as is the case throughout the UK, falls are
the single most common reason for emergency calls to
the ambulance service.  In the older population, falls
are frequently secondary to other health and social
issues including the effect of multiple medications,
intercurrent illness, balance and mobility issues and
social circumstances.  Although a patient may suffer no
direct injury from a fall, there is evidence that
addressing the causes of a fall can reduce not just the
risk of subsequent falls, but also reduce significantly the
rate of further calls to the ambulance service and
further morbidity and mortality within this group.  In a
joint pilot with the Southern Trust, NIAS crews have
the ability to directly refer patients over the age of 75
who have suffered a fall, but no significant injury, for
immediate follow-up by the hospital-based Falls
Assessment Team.  Those patients who do require
transport to hospital for assessment and treatment of
injuries will be referred internally by the Emergency
Department as required.  The A&E crews and RRVs have
been provided with referral forms which allow for
identification of suitable patients and safety-netting in
terms of ensuring suitability for the “treat and leave”
process.  The process allows for careful joint audit of the
referral and follow-up process through joint working
between the Southern HSC Trust and NIAS’ own
information team.  A review of the outcome of this will
inform the roll out of this protocol across the region.

“Treat and leave” protocols are being developed for a
number of other clinical conditions such as asthma,
epilepsy and minor head injury.  Engagement is
currently ongoing with other agencies both at a
regional and local level in regard to the development
of “treat and refer” protocols for patients who contact
NIAS with certain mental health problems that would
be more appropriately dealt with by community
mental health teams.

A further strategic objective for NIAS is to establish
and develop agreed outcome-based, clinical and non-
clinical, quality indicators, for patients, to identify
opportunities to improve outcomes for patients and
pursue the resources and processes necessary to deliver
better outcomes.
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In keeping with this, Clinical Performance Indicators
(CPIs) for a range of conditions are in place and
subject to regular clinical audit with necessary action
being taken when issues of performance or
compliance are identified by the clinical training and
audit teams.  A revision of the Patient Report Form
(PRF) was commenced during 2012/13 to reflect a
number of new clinical developments and
requirements. 

A number of clinical audits undertaken during the
year have shown a marked increase in PRF completion
with a significant increase in workload but also
productivity within the Clinical Audit function.  An
extensive data cleaning and quality assurance exercise
to ensure the extraction of accurate clinical
performance data for a number of clinical conditions
has been undertaken to allow the publication of
reports of clinical performance in relation to a full
range of clinical conditions and ultimately for them to
be benchmarked with similar Clinical Performance
Indicators in other UK ambulance services.  Further
cross-referencing of the clinical data with the
information from the Command and Control system,
which uses Advanced Medical Priority Dispatch
Systems (AMPDS) software to clinically triage
emergency calls, is also being undertaken.

A number of clinical audits indicating performance
against a range of Clinical Performance Indicators
have been presented to the Trust’s Assurance
Committee during the year.  These include the
management of diabetic hypoglycaemia, the
management of suspected or actual stroke and
transient ischemic attack.  This shows the
maintenance of a high degree of compliance with
national clinical practice guidelines in a number of
areas and a significant improvement, particularly in
relation to the management of blood glucose levels
due to the work being done in this regard by the
Clinical Support Officers (CSOs).  Clinical Performance
Indicators relating to the management of acute
myocardial infarction, out of hospital cardiac arrest
and acute asthma are also subject to audit and
ongoing review.  The Clinical Support Officers also
provide ongoing monitoring from Patient Report Form
audits, to focus and educate staff on areas for

improvement in the treatment and management of
these conditions by NIAS staff, ensuring a high level of
compliance with clinical protocols. 

For example, in relation to stroke, performance and
recording of the Face, Arms, Speech, Time test (FAST)
to confirm the diagnosis remains high at 99.1% and a
further rise in the recording of blood glucose
measurement to almost 78%, a rise of 12% on the
previous year due to the focus being given to this by
the Clinical Training Team. 

NIAS continues to administer thrombolysis as part of
the management of acute ST elevation myocardial
infarction (STEMI) following the transmission of the
12-lead ECG to the receiving hospital coronary care
unit.  In anticipation of the introduction of a regional
primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention (PCI)
service next year, NIAS has participated in a pilot with
the Belfast Health & Social Care Trust involving the
direct admission by ambulance of patients with STEMI
to the cardiac catheterisation laboratory at the Royal
Victoria Hospital in Belfast.  This has been very
successful with 135 patients being successfully treated
with primary PCI having been transferred directly for
this procedure by ambulance.  This represents a 27%
increase on the previous year. 

NIAS has continued to participate in a programme of
unannounced inspections of our medicines
management arrangements by the DHSSPSNI which
have been reported to the Assurance Committee
through the Medical Equipment Group.  A total of 32
inspections have now been undertaken with 11 of
these during 2012/13.  No significant problems or
issues have been identified.  In addition 37 internal
stock audits of drugs held on station were undertaken
and were all found to be consistent with the NIAS
specified provision. 

The Clinical Training Team have assisted in the
monitoring and reporting of performance in relation
to standards of healthcare acquired infections to Trust
Board, as well as the implementation of
recommendations arising from previous NIAS audits of
compliance with infection prevention & control
practice and procedures including hand hygiene.  
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These have shown a high degree of compliance but
have also highlighted a number of areas that required
increased awareness and improvement. During the year
the Trust’s Infection Prevention & Control Group has
continued to monitor key performance indicators in
relation to infection prevention & control including
compliance with infection control procedures,
compliance with clinical waste policy, decontamination
of vehicles and equipment, vehicle and station
cleanliness and compliance with the controls assurance
standard.  During the year NIAS engaged with Regional
Quality & Inspection Authority (RQIA) in relation to
their involvement in the independent review of the
Trust’s infection prevention and control audits. 

Extensive work was undertaken reviewing and
amending the Regional Healthcare Hygiene and
Cleanliness Standards and Audit Tool to identify those
elements of relevance to NIAS.  In response to the
recommendations of the Public Enquiry into the
Outbreak of Clostridium Difficile in Northern Trust
Hospitals, an outbreak management policy was
developed in conjunction with the Public Health
Agency.  Progress against the recommendations of the
Final Report of the Independent Review of Incidents of
Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Infection in Neonatal Units
in Northern Ireland, insofar as they are relevant to
NIAS, has been regularly monitored and reported to
both the Trust’s Assurance Committee and DHSSPSNI. 
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Education, Learning and
Development & Clinical
Supervision

The Trust firmly believes that effective education,
learning and development makes a major contribution
to the provision of a committed, professional and
competent workforce and, ultimately, to the delivery
of safe and effective patient care.  Each year an annual
Education, Learning & Development plan (ELDP) is
produced within the framework of the Trust’s
Education, Learning & Development Strategy (2012-
2017).  The ELDP takes account of the purpose,
mission, vision, values and strategic objectives of the
Trust.  It is developed in light of new pressures in
terms of changes in service provision and delivery that
are as a result of organisational reform within NIAS
and the wider Health and Social Care arena.  It
addresses the need for increasing workforce levels
where appropriate, maintaining a safe skill mix and
improving the skills and competencies of ambulance
professionals to meet the challenges of the future.  The
plan is carefully developed to take account of financial
constraints within Health and Social Care whilst
ensuring appropriate and effective education, learning
and development interventions are delivered to meet
statutory, mandatory and governance compliance
requirements.

During 2012/13 the Trust had 37 Paramedic students
graduate from the 2-year programme and a further 34
Paramedic students commenced Year 1 of the
programme.  We delivered mandatory and best practice
refresher training programmes in order to support
continuous professional development; to meet external
verification processes; ensure the highest level of
standards, quality of care and treatment of patients.
Education leads sourced and delivered management
development and best practice programmes to relevant
individuals to equip them with effective managerial
skills to strengthen leadership, heighten awareness of
and help contribute to organisational values, goals and
strategic objectives.  NIAS had a successful annual
monitoring report from the Health and Care
Professions Council (HCPC) and external verifier report
from the Institute for Health Care Development

(IHCD). Through the Divisional Training team the Trust
maintained the promotion and support of continuous
professional and personal development of staff through
the application of life-long learning principles and
reflective practice within the working environment.
Clinical Support Officers delivered 15 Continuous
Professional Development (CPD) evening events on a
local divisional level for frontline operational staff.  The
Education, Learning and Development training team,
has made a significant contribution to clinical
supervision of frontline staff, the clinical governance
agenda and meeting professional and regulatory body
requirements.  The team has carried out regular,
planned observational assessments and Clinical Audits,
supporting and assisting continuous improvement of
pre and post-qualified frontline staff.  This assists in
improving patient care, both in terms of patient-
centred communication and quality of clinical practice.
In an environment of increasing demands and reduced
resources, the Education Learning and Development
agenda is focused on supporting frontline staff to
deliver high quality patient care.  
The team is committed to enhancing and developing
further the clinical care delivered by NIAS staff ensuring
CPD, reflection and learning are embedded in the
culture within the service.

Maintaining and Enhancing
Infrastructure

March 2013 marked the completion of the fleet
replacement programme funded by capital investment
over the last five years.  The aim of this programme
was to replace the fleet and to bring the age of the
fleet down to within five years old across the range
with steady investment over each of those years.  The
programme substantially achieved its aims as when
the most-recently purchased vehicles are
commissioned most of the fleet will be under five
years old.  This is a significant achievement over the
five years and steady state replacement offers greater
resilience and the confidence associated with a
younger and more reliable fleet which is also being
worked more effectively and efficiently.  
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Matching our resources, particularly our fleet
resources, to changing health service configuration
and rising demand has continued to be a challenge
over those five years but the benefits of steady
replacement and particularly the fleet replacement
programme is key in meeting that challenge.  The fleet
itself has also changed over that period incorporating
approved safety aids and vehicle design, with more
environmentally friendly vehicles meeting the latest
European emission and safety standards.  All A&E
vehicles incorporate tail lifts capable of carrying not
just stretcher patients but also now bariatric patients,
providing a network of service to support regional
adult and paediatric intensive care transfers and a
network of vehicles that can respond to the specific
needs of bariatric patients.

NIAS continues to invest in its estate by putting in
place regular maintenance and upkeep of stations
while pursuing the capital programme for replacement
stations in accordance with our service development
needs.  Most recently a business case was approved in
January 2013 for a replacement station in Ballymena
incorporating a divisional headquarters which will
bring divisional administration into the centre of the
area providing a central facility for ambulance
resources within the northern area.  This development
is seen as part of a strategic network of stations from
which to more effectively deploy ambulance resources.

Changes in the acute services within the western area
and the opening of the new South West Acute
Hospital have provided the opportunity for the
Ambulance Service to develop a replacement station in
Enniskillen.  NIAS has very close links to the acute
facilities, however, the placement of the ambulance
station is predicated on its ability to respond promptly
to emergency calls and therefore the need of the
public.  NIAS would like to see the ambulance station
developed on the old hospital site which will retain its
presence in the town and provide the best location for
response and the new facility will support the service
in the South West of the province.  

NIAS continues to review the configuration of existing
deployment locations to secure the optimum locations
for providing response to Northern Ireland.  Recently
this has involved re-locating the Portrush deployment
point to a shared facility within Northern Ireland Fire
and Rescue Service and opening a new shared facility
in Crossmaglen also with the Northern Ireland Fire
and Rescue Service.  This supports our aim to develop
additional deployment points in rural areas to support
dynamic deployment and also to do that in the most
efficient and cost effective manner.  We welcome the
sharing of facilities with our colleagues in the
Northern Ireland Fire and Rescue Service and this
provides a local base for both ambulance and fire
resources.  NIAS now share 13 locations with the fire
service across Northern Ireland, meeting a joint public
safety commitment.

During the year 2012/13 NIAS has invested in
equipping our staff with a replacement, modern,
safety helmet which brings additional protective
features and enables ambulance personnel to use
diagnostic equipment and communication devices
without hindrance.  

We maintained investment, not only in our fleet, but in
our communication and information systems which
are vital to maintaining a 999 response. The Trust’s IT
infrastructure has been designed to integrate systems
such as telephony, despatch and mobile
communications which are critical to support the
delivery of timely, quality patient care.  Ongoing review
of the IT infrastructure aims to continue the process of
steady improvement in response to business needs.
Following further review, improvements in the
telephony platform were introduced this year to
provide greater efficiency in the processing of incoming
calls to Ambulance Control.  The IT team upgraded the
telephony platform and introduced the latest available
hardware and software.  This upgrade also provides the
Trust with the technology capable of supporting new
initiatives such as the ‘111’ service, which would
provide a response to urgent and unscheduled calls
which are not deemed to be an emergency.
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In addition a project to upgrade NIAS’s command and
control despatch system has been successfully
completed by the team.  Benchmarking with other
Ambulance services in the UK highlights that this
system provides NIAS with technology which is as good
as or better than that of our colleagues. Real-time
performance management information is also available
from these new systems to support Ambulance officers
in the decision making process during their routine
work and in the management of major incidents. 

As part of the Business Services Transformation
Programme, NIAS, and the other HSC Trusts have
dedicated considerable staff input to replacing the
existing and outdated Finance and Human Resource

systems deployed throughout the HSC.  NIAS is
represented at every level of this regional project and
considerable work has been undertaken by the IT
support team to identify, design and deliver (within
available resources) a network infrastructure to support
the implementation of the new systems in the coming
financial year.

Throughout the year the IT support team has
continued to maintain the diverse technology deployed
by the Trust and monitor its value in terms of ensuring
the systems are fit for purpose.  This work is crucial in
maintaining NIAS’s status as a modern Ambulance
service equipped with the latest technology vital to
providing safe and quality patient care. 
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Information Governance
& Management

The Director of Finance & ICT has been identified as
the Board level champion for Information
Governance.  The appointment to the role of Senior
Information Responsible Owner (SIRO) provides a
structured approach to the Trust’s legislative
responsibilities in this area.

The Information Department operates under the remit
of the Finance and ICT Directorate and operates as a
central source of information governance provision
for areas including – Data Protection, Freedom of
Information Act, Access to Health Records, Police
Service of Northern Ireland Enquiries, Police
Ombudsman, Coroners Service for Northern Ireland,
information releases to other HSC bodies and Records
Management across the Trust.  This includes the
release of the information processed under legislative
requirements and elements of the patient’s interaction
with NIAS captured in information systems used by
the staff responsible for patient care (primarily
through the manual patient report form and voice
recording system) and the Control room (primarily
through the command and control system).  This
information enables the Trust to identify by patient,
by journey, the interventions made by front line staff.

The Directorate also manages the development,
production and delivery of complex statistical and
qualitative and quantitative reports on emergency and
non-emergency corporate activity for Executive
Directors, Senior Managers and external Health and
Social Care Organisations from information held in
Command and Control and Clinical Audit Systems.
Proactive reporting occurs on a daily, weekly and
monthly basis.  Ad hoc processing also occurs on a
daily basis depending on demands and pressures
evident in the wider HSC arena.  This data provides
key information for strategic planning, decision
making and statutory reporting requirements.  This
includes monitoring of operational performance,
hospital turnaround times, patient handovers, PCS
contract monitoring, monitoring of acute service
changes, clinical performance indicators, etc.

In any given month, the Department will process and
scan over 14,000 patient report forms and process on
average 100 requests for information which will vary in
detail and complexity.  We deliver training to staff,
develop policies and procedures and act as a centralised
point of contact for Service users requesting
information or seeking guidance on information
governance responsibilities.  At all times the patient is
our focus together with the need to ensure information
governance - confidentiality, security and accuracy.

We continue to invest in training and raising the
awareness of all our staff to ensure they clearly
understand and respect the importance of
confidentiality and information security.  We have
sought to deal openly and transparently with requests
for information and have reviewed our systems,
policies and procedures to ensure strong information
governance and data protection.  We have not
identified any significant information related breaches,
nor have any been brought to our attention.

Engaging with our Workforce

NIAS is committed to engaging with our staff and with
trade union representatives, both formally and
informally and to promoting positive employee
relations.  Following recommendations of the Regional
Quality Improvement Authority (RQIA) in 2010/11,
NIAS undertook a review of the formal consultation
mechanisms, with input from Trade Unions
Representatives.  This resulted in the streamlining of
sub-groups of the Joint Consultative and Negotiating
Committee (JCNC) to create an Operations Joint
Consultative Group (Ops JCG) and Terms and
Conditions Joint Consultative Group (T&C JCG).  The
Trust has also established an Equality Forum to ensure
engagement with trade union representatives and staff
around the equality agenda. During 2012/13 the HSC
Staff Survey was issued to all NIAS Staff.  This provided
staff with an opportunity to provide anonymous
feedback on a wide range of issues.  During the year
ahead the Trust will analyse the results of this survey to
take on board this feedback and determine where
improvements can be made. 
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On the 18 January 2013 the Trust held a Long Service
ceremony to recognise frontline members of staff who
have completed 20 years service.  Twenty one
members of staff were presented with the Long Service
and Emergency Duties medal and two staff presented
with the NIAS Long Service Medal.  We also took the
opportunity this year to recognise staff and voluntary
car drivers who had retired during the past year.  The
medals were presented by Dame Mary Peters, Lord
Lieutenant of Belfast.

The Trust’s Human Resources Department continues
to co-ordinate application of HR related statutory
processes and to provide managers with professional
advice and guidance around implementation of
employment law and best practice.

We continue to consolidate staffing rotas and adjust
operational cover to match supply and demand.
During 2012/13 we further extended our Global Roster
System (GRS) into our patient care services to improve
the management of shifts and operational cover.  This
project which has progressed on a phased basis over a
number of years has increased both consistency and
levels of cover and released highly qualified and
experienced front line ambulance personnel from
administrative tasks to provide emergency care.  We
plan to use this system to engage with staff in
developing new and more innovative approaches to
providing cover which are more flexible for staff while
also providing confidence and assurance of cover for
managers and the community.

Another way in which we seek to enhance operational
ambulance cover is by ensuring the most effective
management of absence.  The overall percentage of
absence rose from 7.18% in 2011/12 to 7.50% in
2012/13.  The management of attendance continues to
be a priority for the Trust and the health and wellbeing
of our staff is paramount.  The success of the rapid
physiotherapy referral service has resulted in a drop in
the number of absences related to musculoskeletal
injuries from 32.56% in 2011/12 to 24.02% for
2012/13.  Another service provided by the Trust for staff
is a new counselling service.  Whilst the Trust continues
to receive positive feedback from staff on this service
and uptake of the service has increased significantly

during the year, unfortunately the Trust has seen an
increase in the number of absences related to stress
(Anxiety, Depression & Stress) from 15.00% in 2011/12
to 18.92% in 2012/13.  The Trust has held two highly
successful Health Fairs this year, one at Headquarters
and one in Southern Division and plans are afoot to
roll the health fair out across the other Divisions.
Monthly attendance performance meetings take place
with managers to ensure compliance with the
Attendance Management Policy and quarterly
accountability meetings with Directors and managers
are also scheduled for those who are not achieving their
target.  Performance improvement plans will be
developed in this regard and factored in to future plans.
The Trust benchmarks its’ attendance statistics against
the DHSSPSNI Monitoring of HR Activity, along with
national statistics from other UK Ambulance Services
and presents this information in reports to public trust
board meetings.

Regular and on-going use of formal disciplinary,
grievance and harassment procedures within an
organisation is an indication that staff are aware of the
means by which they can raise concerns and also that
managers are identifying issues and matters of concern
and investigating and addressing them through the
appropriate procedures.  The assurance framework
presented at each public board meeting for scrutiny by
Trust Board and available on our website provides
evidence of the application of these various procedures
and processes.  During 2012/13 NIAS initiated formal
disciplinary procedures on 21 occasions (representing
approximately 1.7% of the workforce), referring 15
paramedics to the Health and Care Professions Council.
During the same period staff filed 15 grievances, 5 of
which were resolved informally.  12 harassment cases
were filed during this period and 3 of these were
resolved informally and in addition 2 were withdrawn.
There was one industrial tribunal cases naming NIAS as
the defendant during the year.
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Listening to and Learning
from the Community 

During 2012/13 NIAS engaged with service users to
develop a Personal & Public Involvement (PPI)
Strategy and Action Plan for the Trust, which was then
issued for wider consultation.  This sets out the Trust’s
plans for systems to involve patients, carers and the
public in decisions about our service which affect
them.  We work in partnership with other HSC
organisations to ensure a collaborative approach to
this work and avoid duplication but also engage
directly with service users around ambulance specific
issues. This has included working with the Patient
Client Council to participate in a Transport Workshop
and Citizen’s Jury, engaging with Local
Commissioning Groups and undertaking dialogue
with service users to inform specific policy areas.

We are committed to demonstrating how this
engagement involves improvements in our work.  One
example of this is the recent development of a leaflet
providing information on how to access our services
and explaining ‘what happens when you call 999’.
This was developed as a result of feedback from service
users suggesting further information in this regard
would be helpful. 

NIAS remains committed to complying with the
Minister’s Standards for Improving the Patient &
Client Experience which relates to: Respect; Attitude;
Behaviour; Communication; Privacy and Dignity.  We
have worked together with other HSC organisations to
implement systems to assess patient and client
experience in this regard which has included
undertaking surveys, observations of practice and
gathering patient stories.  We have analysed the results
in conjunction with analysis of complaints in these
areas to identify how we can make improvements.
Results from this work have been very positive.
Where the potential for improvements has been
identified we have taken corrective action which may
be through training, review of policies or individual
engagement with staff.  Progress around this area of
work is monitored by the Trust’s Equality and PPI
Steering Group and Trust Board.

Complaints and compliments represent extremely
valuable feedback to the ambulance service and to our
managers and staff on the delivery of health care to
patients.  It is very important that we welcome and
acknowledge both complaints and compliments and
have processes in place to learn from them and apply
that learning positively to improve future
performance.  Trust Board has a key role in the
scrutiny of this particular feedback from those who
receive our services.  The assurance report provides
Board members with relevant performance
information and trend data, but crucially Board
members are also provided with a synopsis of every
complaint and compliment describing incident,
outcome and action taken.  This supports a greater
level of scrutiny by the board and the public and
provides an opportunity to test outcomes and the
application of learning to prevent recurrence of the
incidents and circumstances underlying complaints.

During 2012/13 NIAS received 140 complaints, an
increase of 42 on the previous year.  In the same
period we received 162 compliments, an increase of 17
on the previous year (Further details are available in
Trust Board papers through the NIAS Assurance Report
2012/13.)  We continue to receive positive feedback
from Health and Social Care Board staff in relation to
the quality and thoroughness of the complaints
investigation process and our responses to
complainants, and in particular our low ratios of
complaints being reopened.  However, having
acknowledged difficulties in providing a prompt and
timely response to complainants due to the time spent
on investigation of the complaint we have
implemented escalation procedures to address this
weakness.  

The Trust is committed to ensuring that appropriate
action is taken to address issues highlighted by
complaints and making sure that lessons are learned
and corrective action is taken to improve our services.
Among the changes implemented by the Trust as a
result of complaint outcomes are; a review of the
carriage of walking aids and personal belongings
during non-emergency transfers; the update and
upgrade of software for ambulance Satellite Navigation
Systems; revised training for all frontline staff on
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dealing with patients with mental health illness and
the review of non emergency transport arrangements
for dialysis patients in the Northern HSC Trust area.

The NIAS Community Education Programme
continues to deliver key messages on issues such as
inappropriate use of the Service, violence against
ambulance staff and changes in service delivery.
Through the use of operational staff, NIAS is afforded
the opportunity to engage in face to face dialogue
with today’s service users, and those of the future, on
important issues. NIAS continues to feature
prominently in both broadcast and print media,
usually in relation to issues around performance.
However, during the year NIAS hosted the BBC Radio
Nolan Show, which was broadcast live from the
Emergency Ambulance Control Centre, and which
brought the reality of our activity into the homes of
those who make this show the most listened to in
Northern Ireland.  As opportunities arise to profile
positive aspects of our service, co-operation is sought
from the media to so do.  In November 2012, during
Road Safety week, a UTV journalist and cameraman
accompanied our crews to highlight the dangers on
the roads and to record the NIAS response and on
scene treatment.  To further enhance our profile, we
continue to make use of Social Media and have grown
our following with informative postings, most
recently relating to the difficulties during the period of
inclement weather.  One such posting was viewed by
over 130,000 people in less than 48 hours.

In addition we have met with patients, public
representatives and interest groups throughout
Northern Ireland over the year, explaining how we
operate and the constraints within which we provide
services, and seeking to identify ways to meet the
aspirations and expectations of the communities they
represent.

Managing Unexpected
Events

NIAS provides services outlined elsewhere in this report
which challenge our staff to respond promptly and
effectively to demand and expectations.  In addition
however, we are often called upon to deal with the
unexpected.  This can range from chemical incidents,
major transport incidents, natural disasters, and,
unfortunately in our world, terrorist incidents.  While
we have plans and processes in place to deal with such
unexpected incidents, we do not maintain separate
discreet or distinct resources to respond solely to those
incidents while we continue to deal with the ongoing
demand for ambulances for clinical response.  Rather
we redistribute existing resources and supplement them
with operational managers to direct, manage and co-
ordinate the ambulance response and liaise with other
emergency services and hospitals.

This has been a very busy year regarding responses to
major incidents.  There were 17 potential major
incidents requiring an initial response which is a
significant increase of almost 50% on the previous year.
Four major incidents were declared during the year
requiring a full major incident response.  These
included a gas leak that occurred in a nursing home
requiring the evacuation and ongoing care of the
residents, a fire in one of the hospitals during which
over 120 patients were moved, and a chemical incident
on board a ship which required a full decontamination
response, both at the scene and at the receiving
hospital, during which over 30 patients were
decontaminated.  A further incident involved a school
bus that overturned with the occupants requiring
treatment on scene and ambulance transport to two
different hospitals. In addition to these, NIAS also
responded to six airport alerts, however all aircraft
landed safely, although a full incident response was
required to be present on each occasion as a precaution.
Given the increasing demand being experienced by the
Service, and in a climate of financial constraint,
maintaining normal service provision during these
incidents is becoming more challenging, for example
the chemical incident mentioned above that lasted for
over eight hours occurred on the same day as two other
potential major incidents involving public transport.
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During 2012/13 NIAS Emergency Planning Training
has been very successful with 35 NIAS and multi-
agency training events taking place.  NIAS has also
participated in 17 exercises of various aspects of the
NIAS Major Incident Plan.  The NIAS Hazardous Area
Response Team (HART) dealt with a wide range of
incidents involving hazardous environments or
substances on 149 occasions during the year.  To
ensure an appropriate and timely response to existing
capabilities which include urban search and rescue,
decontamination, safe working at heights and the use
of breathing apparatus, further initial training and
personal protective equipment (PPE) was provided in a
range of disciplines including; QuickDon Chemical
Protection Suit with PSNI; Coastguard Rope
Technician Training with MCA; Urban Search and
Rescue Training with NIFRS.

In-house Chemical, Biological, Radiation, Nuclear
(CBRN) continuation training was delivered by NIAS
trainers in conjunction with Northern Ireland Fire and
Rescue Service (NIFRS) and the Public Health Agency
(PHA) at the HART base.  Gas tight suits and powered
respirator protective suits were purchased to facilitate
this training.  Safe working at height instructors have
been developed within NIAS to support ongoing
training in this area.  To provide a realistic training
environment a purpose built training facility has been
installed and ancillary training equipment purchased.

Refresher training with partner agencies was
maintained throughout the year, to ensure
competency and safe systems of work in the areas of
Breathing Apparatus and Coastguard Rope Technician.
NIAS is extremely grateful to our partner agencies in
the development and delivery of this training. 
As part of ongoing development HART Operatives
have received training and PPE to allow safe
deployment into mountainous and remote areas
within Northern Ireland.  Ballistic Protection PPE has
been procured in line with Home Office policy for a
Marauding Firearms Terrorist Attack and training is to
be arranged with PSNI in its use.  An existing Trust
vehicle has been adapted to provide rapid deployment
of small scale decontamination and is available as a
general incident HART response vehicle.

Business Continuity

Business continuity, and the capacity of an
organisation to establish and maintain it, is key to any
service.  Put simply, it is about putting plans and
processes in place to maintain services when some
elements of the service fail and re-establish full service
provision as soon as possible.  An Emergency
Preparedness and Business Continuity Group was
established during the year to oversee business
continuity planning within the Trust, which is
currently an area of particular focus.  Directorate
business continuity leads were identified and a
programme of planning, review and testing of Trust
and Directorate business continuity plans was
developed.  Testing of a number of business continuity
plans was undertaken with associated outcomes and
learning being identified.  A programme of training
for the Directorate leads was developed to be delivered
by the business continuity lead.  Some delays in the
ongoing implementation and review of business
continuity plans within the Trust have been
experienced due to other significant event planning
requirements, for example the G8 conference of world
leaders, World Police & Fire Games, City of Culture,
etc.  The Business Continuity Strategy and Policy are
being updated to reflect new international and
national standards and to allow for the inclusion of
the Business Services Transformation Programme
(BSTP). 

During the year there were 18 incidents relating to
activation of business continuity plans within the
Trust.  These included incidents of flooding, civil
disturbance, severe snowfall, equipment and
communication system failures.  Power disruption due
to severe weather impacted on the Trust’s emergency
control centre systems at the end of March.
Contingency arrangements were enacted and the IT
team activated to support call taking arrangements.
Plans for mutual support with the Scottish Ambulance
Service enabled calls to be transferred with minimal
disruption.  Each challenge of this nature presents a
unique opportunity to review our systems and plans,
learn lessons, and apply that learning to improve
resilience.
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Controls Assurance

Controls assurance is a process designed to provide
assurance that Health and Social Care (HSC)
organisations are doing their reasonable best to
manage themselves, so that objectives to protect
patients, staff, the public, equipment and assets
against risks of all kinds are met.

Controls Assurance Standards have been developed by
the Department of Health Social Services and Public
Safety for Northern Ireland to support the embedding of
governance and risk management throughout the
organisation.  Each standard requires a narrative, a
compliance score and an action plan along with
evidence to substantiate this information.  An integral
part of the controls assurance process is an annual
report of compliance covering each of the applicable
standards (see page 40), which is made in support of the
Governance Statement.  The 2012/13 controls assurance
process indicates that the Trust has met the required
level of substantive compliance against all standards
applicable to the ambulance service with the exception
of the Management of Purchasing and Supply which
was assessed at moderate compliance.  This reflects the
extensive ongoing work throughout the organisation to
embed processes covered by these standards, but also
highlights areas for improvement.  The Trust continues
to develop systems and processes to ensure compliance
with controls assurance standards.

Principle Risks and
Uncertainties

Principal risks relating to corporate performance are
managed in line with our risk strategy which complies
with DHSSPSNI guidance and assurance of the
identification and management of risks is delivered
through the Audit and Assurance Committees reporting
to NIAS Trust Board. 

The Trust has taken steps to improve and ensure that
good risk management processes are adopted at all
levels and in all activities and supports initiative and
innovation whilst learning from mistakes and taking
responsibility.  The Trust’s Assurance Framework was
revised to reflect NIAS strategic objectives and
Corporate Plan with a further development being
undertaken to reflect more strategic assurance. 

The Trust is committed to fostering an open and honest
culture where people are prepared to challenge and be
challenged about how and why they do things in the
interest of their patients, staff, the Trust and the public
and is committed to the proportionate management of
risk that ensures the Trust discharges its duty of care to
our patients, staff and those who may be affected by
our activities. During the year a review of the Trust’s
Risk Management Strategy, Policy and associated
Procedures was commenced.  The Trust was involved in
the reporting and investigation of a number of actual or
potential serious adverse incidents during 2012/13 in
conjunction with other Trusts and agencies.  These
incidents were fully investigated and a small number
identified significant learning and recommendations,
both for the Trust and the wider HSC.  These included,
for example, a regional review and development of an
inter-hospital transfer policy, changes to the procedures
for the activation of hospital-based mobile coronary
care units, and the procedures for responding to calls
from hospital coronary care units within Ambulance
Control.  The Trust has also taken action in response to
a number of recommendations made by Coroners in
other parts of the UK in relation to post-operative and
other significant haemorrhage, improvements in inter-
agency communication between the Emergency
Services at incidents, and is currently participating in a
regional procurement of new airway management
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equipment in response to one such recommendation.
Similarly regional and national drug and medical
equipment alerts are regularly reviewed, assessed for
relevance to the Trust and appropriate action taken
with regular reports being provided to Trust Board
through the Trust’s Assurance Committee.

The operating environment was complicated by
ongoing changes in the provision of acute hospital
services throughout Northern Ireland in areas such as
Lagan Valley and Belfast.  Changes in clinical practice
also impacted upon the provision of ambulance
services necessitating a pro-active response on our part
to changes elsewhere.  NIAS has engaged fully with the
architects of acute service change supporting agreed
proposals with innovative and highly responsive
solutions to manage the change in a way which
maintains provision of safe, high quality services to
patients.  Such changes present a significant challenge
particularly when financial and staff resources are
stretched.

The Trust continues with the agreed process of Agenda
for Change in partnership with Trade Unions.
However, there remain uncertainties over the outcome
of the process and the Trust cannot predict what the
final outcome will be or when the process will be
completed.  The Trust will continue to fulfil its
obligations under the agreed Agenda for Change
process.  The Trust Board has also signalled concern in
respect of risks associated with Business Continuity;
Vehicle Cleaning; Delivering Optimal Clinical
Experience in Patient Care; Board Cohesion; Workforce
Flexibility; Balancing Statutory Responsibilities; Impact
of Transforming Your Care Changes; Public Perception;
Impact of Funding Retraction; Impact of BSTP Changes;
Achieving Financial Balance and these continue to be
managed through the corporate risk register.

The future remains challenging, particularly in relation
to available resources and configuration of services.  We
are fully engaged with the DHSSPSNI, the HSCB, and
provider organisations such as HSC Trusts and will
continue to work with them in order to manage the
risk in this area as it is identified.

Environment, Sustainability
and Corporate Responsibility

The Trust is aware of its responsibilities in respect of
sustainability and the environment.  We are fully
committed to the sustainability agenda and recognise
that there is a strong synergy between sustainable
practices and an effective and efficient organisation
which promotes improvement of the health and
wellbeing of staff and the communities that we serve.

The planned replacement of ambulances through the
year has enabled the Trust to avail of the most modern
technologies to improve the efficiency of the fleet and
reduce emissions.  Where available, the service looks
to utilise renewable energy sources, such as wind, to
provide electricity.

We continue to develop and maintain systems to
reduce waste and increase recycling, for example with
the secure and safe disposal of computer equipment
and consumables.  The Trust also operates a Cycle to
Work scheme as part of the Government's Green
Transport Plan which not only aims to reduce
environmental pollution and promote healthier
lifestyles but also make cycling to work a cost-effective
option for employees.

The Trust is a member of Business in the Community
with whom it regularly engages in the
implementation of its Corporate Responsibility
agenda.  The Director of Human Resources and
Corporate Services has been identified as a Board level
champion for Corporate Responsibility.  A Corporate
Responsibility Action Plan is in place which reflects
key priorities, linked to the Trusts strategic objectives,
under themes of Corporate, Sustainability, Workplace,
Community and Communications.  In addition
progress is included in reporting to Trust Board
through the Assurance Framework. Examples of work
undertaken under this agenda have included
participation in Business in the Community schemes
such as Silver Surfers and Carers.  NIAS also promotes
this agenda through the application of environmental
awareness schemes, for which the Trust received an
impressive rating in the annual Northern Ireland
Environmental Benchmarking Survey, and
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participation in programmes of social awareness such
as the Cares Challenge and the Well Being Learning
Network.

Financial Performance

NIAS, in common with the rest of the Health and
Social Care system, continues to face an increasingly
difficult challenge – that of dealing with increasing
demand for our services while, at the same time,
experiencing a reduction in funds.  The Trust has
delivered against a range of statutory and regulatory
financial duties during the year.  Overall, expenditure
on the Ambulance Service increased slightly from
£62m to £63m, though this was against a backdrop of
financial savings.  As part of the Comprehensive
Spending Review 2008 to 2011, the Trust delivered
recurrent cash efficiency savings of £4.5m.  In
2012/13, the Trust has delivered £1.2m of savings
across a range of recurrent and non-recurrent
initiatives.  The savings requirement increases to
£2.2m in 2013/14 and then to £3m in 2014/15.  The
Trust continues to work to deliver the level of savings
required while maintaining levels of activity,
performance and quality.

The Trust also delivered a significant investment plan
of £1.2m, mostly in response to changes in service
delivery in the wider Health and Social Care system.
Overall, the Trust delivered a surplus of £24k, which is
within the tolerance set by the DHSSPSNI of 0.25% of
the Trust’s Revenue Resource Limit (RRL).

The Trust also benefited from £3.9m of capital
investment.  This was largely for the replacement of
ambulance vehicles, but also allowed for investment
in ambulance estate and the Information and
Communications Technology platform, which is the
backbone of any modern Ambulance Service.

NIAS continues to participate in the Business Services
Transformation Programme (BSTP) which is a
programme of replacing aged Finance and Human
Resources systems for all Health and Social Care bodies
in Northern Ireland.  It is expected that these new

systems will come into use for NIAS in 2013/14.  The
process commenced for other HSC organisations this
year and represents a major undertaking for the whole
system, with a significant time commitment for key
finance and human resource staff members.

The Trust is also required to pay non HSC trade
creditors in accordance with the Better Payments
Practice Code and Government Accounting Rules.
Performance against this duty dropped during the year
and the Trust narrowly missed achieving this target.
Performance by number and value of invoices is
shown in Note 15.1 on Page 85 of the Annual
Accounts.

NIAS, in common with other HSC Trusts, draw down
cash directly from the DHSSPSNI to cover both
revenue and capital expenditure.  Cash deposits held
by the Trusts are minimal and any interest earned is
repaid to the DHSSPSNI.  As such, there are no effects
of interest costs on outturn and no potential impact of
interest rate changes.

Remuneration Report for the
Year Ended 31 March 2013

Section 421 of The Companies Act 2006, as
interpreted for the public sector requires HSC bodies
to prepare a Remuneration Report containing
information about director’s remuneration.  The
Remuneration Report summarises the remuneration
policy of The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service
Health and Social Care Trust and particularly its
application in connection with senior managers.  The
reports must also describe how the Trust applies
principles of good corporate governance in relation to
senior managers’ remuneration.

Senior managers include the Chief Executive and the
four Executive Directors who operate at Board level
and are listed on page 10 of this report and also
overleaf. The tables on pages 33 and 34 outlining
senior employees remuneration are part of the
remuneration report.
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Remuneration Committee
The membership the Remuneration Committee is
comprised exclusively of Non-Executive Directors as
outlined previously in this report and the committee
is chaired by the Chair of Trust Board. Executive
Director attendance is restricted to Chief Executive
and Director of Human Resources and Corporate
Services who absent themselves at appropriate points
in the meeting to prevent any issues such as conflict
of interest arising.

Remuneration Policy
The policy on the Remuneration of Directors and
Senior Managers for current and future periods is
governed and administered on the basis of the
DHSSPSNI Departmental Directives and Circulars on
HSC Senior Executive Salaries. NIAS applies the Senior
Executive Performance Management Scheme as set out
within Departmental Circular HSS(SM) 1/2003 ‘Senior
Executives Performance Management Scheme’.
The circular sets out the following requirements which
are applied within the Trust.

The Board determines the strategic and operational
corporate objectives of the Trust for the year ahead
taking into account the parameters established by
the Department and incorporating them within its
Service or Trust Delivery Plan.

The Chairman agrees the Chief Executive’s
performance objectives, undertakes review of
performance and objectives, and completes final
report.

The Chief Executive agrees individual performance
objectives of Executive Directors, undertakes review
of performance and objectives, and completes final
report.

Senior Executives agree performance objectives
with the Chief Executive participate in reviews and
take responsibility for personal development.

Performance objectives are linked to Trust Delivery
Plan and Strategic Plans. Performance objectives are
clearly defined and measurable.

Each Director’s performance is reviewed by the
Chief Executive on an annual basis.  The approach
adopted is based on assessment of the Executive
Director’s contribution towards the achievement of
agreed objectives aligned to the Trust’s Strategic
and Trust Delivery Plan.  A similar approach is used
by the Chairman for the Chief Executive.
Performance pay would be considered within the
total pay limit determined by the DHSSPSNI.

The Remuneration Committee encourages effective
appraisal of staff and scrutinises objectives for
consistency, robustness and alignment with
priorities.  The committee also ensures that a robust
process has taken place and monitors for
consistency of assessment before recommending
overall banding and award for senior executives.

The Remuneration Committee recommendations
are presented to Trust board for consideration and
approval.

In 2012/13 the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations in respect of senior executive
salaries related to performance-related pay for
2011/12 and re-grading following DHSSPSNI
evaluation of executive salaries.

In 2013, NIAS moved from the procedure
previously employed whereby a collective
assessment of all directors performance and
proposal for award was presented as a single
recommendation, precluding discussion and
decision at individual director level by Trust Board,
to a system of recommendation for consideration
and decision on an individual basis.  With the
move to individual consideration and decision of
recommendations, Executive Directors absented
themselves from discussion and decision where the
recommendation related to them as individuals,
thus ensuring that no directors participated in
discussions about their own remuneration.
Executive Directors further sought and received
board assurance in relation to participating in a
process where other executive colleagues were the
subject of consideration and decision.
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Service Contracts
The Trust Medical Director is employed under a
contract issued in accordance with HSC Medical
Consultant Terms and Conditions of Service (Northern
Ireland) 2004.  All of the other Senior Executives in
the year 2012/13 were on the pre 23 December 2008
Senior Executive Contract.  The contractual provisions
applied are those detailed and contained within
Circulars HSS (SM) 2/2001.

Directors

Non-Executive Directors
Mr Paul Archer, Chairman appointed on 16 October
2008 for a period of four years (extended from 16
October 2012 to 15 October 2016).

Professor Mary Hanratty CBE, Non-Executive Director
appointed on 1 August 2007 for a period of four years.
(extended from 1 August 2011 to 31 July 2015).

Mr Seamus Shields, Non-Executive Director appointed
on 1 May 2009 for a period of four years. (Deceased 4
August 2012).

Mr Norman McKinley, Non-Executive Director
appointed on 1 May 2009 for a period of four years.

Ms Angela Paisley, Non-Executive Director appointed
on 1 December 2010 for a period of four years.

Mr Sean McKeever, Non-Executive Director appointed
on 1 December 2010 for a period of four years.
(Resigned 21 November 2011).

Dr Jim Livingstone, Non-Executive Director appointed
on 1 November 2012 for a period of four years.

Mr Robin Mullan, Non-Executive Director appointed
on 24 December 2012 for a period of four years.

The terms and conditions applicable to Non-Executive
Directors are issued by the DHSSPSNI.

Executive Directors
Mr Liam McIvor, Chief Executive appointed on 1
October 2004

Mr Brian McNeill, Director of Operations appointed 1
June 2005

Dr David McManus, Medical Director appointed 1
May 2003

Mrs Sharon McCue, Director of Finance and
Information Communications Technology appointed
4 March 2002

Ms Roisin O’Hara, Director of Human Resources &
Corporate Services appointed 1 March 2002

Duration of Contract
Permanent Contracts of Employment with
continuation subject to satisfactory performance.

Notice Periods
A three-month’ notice period is to be provided by
either party except in the event of summary dismissal.
There is nothing to prevent either party waiving the
right to notice or from accepting payment in lieu of
notice.

Termination Payments
Statutory provisions only as detailed in contract.
There were no payments made to directors in respect
of compensation for loss of office during 2012/13.

Retirement Age
Currently, employees are required to retire at age 65
years; occupational pensions are normally effective
from age 60 years.  With effect from 1 October 2006
with the introduction of the Equality (Age)
Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2006, employees can
ask to work beyond age 65 years.

Retirement Benefits Cost
The Trust participates in the HSC Superannuation
Scheme.  Under this multi-employer defined benefit
scheme both the Trust and employees pay specified
percentages of pay into the scheme and the liability to
pay benefit falls to the DHSSPSNI.  The Trust is unable
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to identify its share of the underlying assets and
liabilities in the scheme on a consistent and reliable
basis.  Further information regarding the HSC
Superannuation Scheme can be found in the HSC
Superannuation Scheme Statement in the
Departmental Resource Account for the Department of
Health, Social Services and Public Safety.

The costs of early retirements are met by the Trust and
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure at the time the Trust commits itself to the
retirement.

In respect of Directors, there are no provisions for the
cost of early retirement included in the 2012/13
accounts.

As per the requirements of the Financial Reporting
Manual (FReM), full actuarial valuations by a
professionally qualified actuary are required at
intervals not exceeding four years.  The actuary
reviews the most recent actuarial valuation at the
Statement of Financial Position date and updates it to
reflect current conditions.  The most recent valuation
as at 31 March 2008 was completed in 2010/11 and
will be used in the 2012/13 accounts.

Premature Retirement Costs
Section 16 of the Agenda for Change Terms and
Conditions Handbook (issued on 14 February 2007
under cover of the Department’s Guidance Circular
HSS (AfC) (4) 2007) sets out the arrangements for early
retirement on the grounds of redundancy and in the
interest of the service. Further Circulars were issued by
the Department HSS (AfC) (6) 2007 and HSS (AfC) (5)
2008 setting out changes to the timescale for the
operation of the transitional protection under these
arrangements.

Under the terms of Section 16 of the Agenda for
Change Terms and Conditions Handbook individuals
who were members of the HPSS Superannuation
Scheme prior to 1 October 2006, are over 50 years of
age and have at least 5 years membership of the HPSS
Superannuation Scheme qualify for transitional
protection. Staff who qualify for transitional
protection are entitled to receive what they would

have received by way of pension and redundancy
payment had they taken redundancy retirement on 30
September 2006.  This includes enhancement of up to
10 years additional service (reduced by the number of
years between September 2006 and the actual date of
retirement) and a lump sum redundancy payment of
up to 30 weeks’ pay (reduced by 30% for each year of
additional service over 6 2/3 years).

Alternatively, staff made redundant who are members
of the HPSS Pension Scheme, have at least two years’
continuous service and two years’ qualifying
membership and have reached the minimum pension
age currently 50 years can opt to retire early without a
reduction in their pension as an alternative to a lump
sum redundancy payment of up to 24 months’ pay.
In this case the cost of the early payment of the
pension is paid from the lump sum redundancy
payment however if the redundancy payment is not
sufficient to meet the early payment of pension cost
the employer is required to meet the additional cost.
In respect of Directors, there are no provisions for the
cost of premature retirement included in the 2012/13
accounts.

Mr Liam McIvor
Chief Executive
13 June 2013

32 + NIAS HSC TRUST ANNUAL REPORT 2013 +



Senior Employees’ Remuneration (Audited)

THE SALARY, PENSION ENTITLEMENTS AND THE VALUE OF ANY TAXABLE BENEFITS
IN KIND OF THE MOST SENIOR MEMBERS OF THE TRUST WERE AS FOLLOWS:

2012-13 2011-12
Bonus Benefits in Bonus Benefits in

Performance Kind (Rounded Performance Kind (Rounded
Salary pay to nearest £100) Salary pay to nearest £100) 

Name £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Non-Executive Members

P Archer 20 - 25 - - 20 - 25 - -

M Hanratty 5 - 10 - - 5 - 10 - -

N McKinley 5 - 10 - - 5 - 10 - -

S Shields 0 - 5 - - 5 - 10 - -
(until 04 Aug 2012) (5-10*)

A Paisley 5 - 10 - - 5 - 10 - -

S McKeever - - - 0 - 5 - -
(until 21 Nov 2011) (5-10*)

J Livingstone 0 - 5 - - - - -
(appointed 01 Nov 2012) (5-10*)

R Mullan 0 - 5 - - - - -
(appointed 24 Dec 12) (5-10*)

Executive Members

L McIvor 75 - 80 0 - 5 - 75 - 80 0 - 5 -

S McCue 65 - 70 0 - 5 - 65 - 70 0 - 5 -

R O’Hara 60 - 65 0 - 5 - 60 - 65 0 - 5 -

D McManus 100 - 105 - - 100 - 105 - -

B McNeill 65 - 70 0 - 5 - 60 - 65 0 - 5 -

Highest Earners’s Total 100 - 105 100 - 105
Remuneration (£’000)

Median Total Remuneration £32,113 £33,793

Ratio 3.2 3.0

* denotes full-year salary

During the year a job evaluation process in relation to Senior Executives (with the exception of the Trust’s Medical Director who was not
included in this process as he is employed under HSC Medical Consultant Terms and Conditions of Service) which dated back to
November 2007 was concluded.  With the exception of the Medical Director, all of the other Senior Executives in the year 2012/13 were on
the pre 23 December 2008 Senior Executive Contract. The provisions applied are those detailed and contained within Circulars HSS (SM)
2/2001. This job evaluation process was carried out by the DHSSPS on behalf of NIAS and resulted in a re-grading of all affected Executive
Directors to a higher pay level.  The evaluation process resulted in a change in remuneration and the payment of appropriate arrears to
each of the Executive Directors involved which was backdated to November 2007.  The figures above have been restated to reflect the
revised remuneration levels for 2011/12 and 2012/13. Total arrears for the period November 2007 to March 2011 for the affected Directors
was in the range £15-20k. The entire process was carried out in conjunction and with the approval of the DHSSPS.  In line with Terms of
Reference, these matters were considered by the Remuneration Committee and advised to and approved by the Trust Board. 
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Senior Employees’ Remuneration (Audited)

THE SALARY, PENSION ENTITLEMENTS AND THE VALUE OF ANY TAXABLE BENEFITS
IN KIND OF THE MOST SENIOR MEMBERS OF THE TRUST WERE AS FOLLOWS:

2012-13
Real increase in Total accrued pension

pension and related at age 60 and CETV at CETV at Real increase

lump sum at age 60 related lump sum 31/03/12 31/03/13 in CETV

Name £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Non-Executive Members

P Archer - - - - -

M Hanratty - - - - -

N McKinley - - - - -

S Shields - - - - -
(until 04 Aug 2012)

A Paisley - - - - -

J Livingstone - - - - -
(appointed 01 Nov 2012)

R Mullan - - - - -
(appointed 24 Dec 12)

Executive Members

L McIvor 0 - 2.5 + lump 20 - 25 + lump 400 451 51 
sum of 2.5 - 5 sum of 65 - 70

S McCue 0 - 2.5 + lump 5 - 10 + lump 160 204 44 
sum of 2.5 - 5 sum of 20 - 25

R O’Hara 0 - 2.5 + lump 15 - 20 + lump 294 340 46 
sum of 2.5 - 5 sum of 50 - 55

D McManus 0 - 2.5 + lump 50 - 55 + lump 1,005 1,027 22 
sum of 5 - 7.5 sum of 150 - 155

B McNeill (0 - 2.5) + lump 20 - 25 + lump 383 458 75 
sum of (2.5 - 5) sum of 60 - 65

As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive
members.

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a
particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the
scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures
shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just
their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details, include the value of any
pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the HPSS pension scheme. They also include
any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at
their own cost. 

CETVs are calculated within the guidelines prescribed by the institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real Increase in CETV - This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued
pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (Including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension
scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.
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Reporting bodies are required to disclose the
relationship between the remuneration of the highest-
paid director in their organisation and the median
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid Director
in the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust
in the financial year 2012/13 was £100 - £105k
(2011/12: £100 - £105k).  This was 3.2 times (2011/12:
3.0 times) the median remuneration of the workforce,
which was £32,113 (2011/12: £33,793).

There were no ‘off-payroll’ engagements at a cost of
over £58,200 per annum in place as at 31 January
2012 or through to 31 March 2013.

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated
performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind as well as
severance payments.  It does not include employer
pension contributions and the cash equivalent
transfer value of pensions.

2011/12 was the second year of the two year public
sector pay freeze for HSC Senior Executive Staff.
Throughout the period of the pay freeze however, HSC
employers are still required to meet contractual
liabilities for all staff.  The Departments legal advice is
that Senior Executive Staff on contracts entered into
before 23 December 2008 continue to have a
contractual entitlement to pay progression, based on
performance, for the duration of the pay freeze.
Bonuses are based on performance levels attained and
are made as part of the appraisal process.

Bonuses relate to the performance in the year in
which they become payable to the individual. The
bonuses reported in 2012/13 relate to performance in
2011/12 and the comparative bonuses reported for
2011/12 relate to the performance in 2010/11.
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Annual Governance
Statement 2012/13

1. Introduction and Scope of Responsibility
The Board of the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service
HSC Trust (NIAS) is accountable for internal control.  As
Accounting Officer and Chief Executive of the Board, I
have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the
organisation’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am
responsible in accordance with the responsibilities
assigned to me by the Department of Health, Social
Services and Public Safety (DHSSPSNI).

In essence, the role of Accounting Officer is to see that
the Trust carries out the following functions in a way
that ensures the proper stewardship of public money
and assets:

To enter into and fulfil service level agreements with
health and social care commissioners;

To meet statutory financial duties; and

To maintain and develop relationships with
patients, the local community, commissioners, other
HSC bodies and suppliers.

The Trust is directly accountable to the DHSSPSNI for
the performance of these functions.

The Trust works in partnership with the DHSSPSNI,
Health and Social Care Board (HSCB) and the Public
Health Agency (PHA) through groups such as the
Performance Management and Service Improvement
team at HSCB.  The Trust also works closely with other
partner organisations through the establishment and
representation on various working groups, for example
local ambulance liaison groups.  These arrangements
continue to be reviewed and updated in response to
changes in the structure of Health and Social Care
across Northern Ireland.

2. Compliance with Corporate Governance Best
Practice

The NIAS applies the principles of good practice in
Corporate Governance and continues to further
strengthen its governance arrangements.  The NIAS
does this by undertaking continuous assessment of its
compliance with Corporate Governance best practice.
Trust Board is currently engaged in a process of
self-assessment against the Board Governance
Self-Assessment Tool issued by DHSSPSNI during
2012/13.  This process is intended to help organisations
improve the effectiveness of their Board and provide
board members with assurance that the organisation is
conducting its business in accordance with best
practice.  The assessment covers four key areas: Board
composition and commitment; Board evaluation,
development and learning; Board insight and foresight;
and Board engagement and involvement.  Action plans
arising from the 
self-assessment will be prioritised and progressed during
2013/14.  

The Trust has also completed the Audit Committee Self-
Assessment checklist, which is issued by the National
Audit Office as a tool to assist Audit Committees in
assessing how well they apply good practice.  The Trust
will continue to use this as a tool to assess performance
and show areas for improvement.  The applicability of
the checklist and any applicable learning to other
committees will also be considered in 2013/14.

The DHSSPSNI Code of Conduct and Code of
Accountability for Board members of HSC Bodies
require that none of the non-executive members of the
Trust’s Remuneration Committee should also be
members of the Audit Committee.  Due to a number of
non-executive vacancies during the year, one non-
executive director was a member of both committees
for a period of time.  This fact was recorded in the
minutes of the meetings and was advised to the
DHSSPSNI.  New non-executives were appointed during
the year and the situation is now resolved.
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3. Governance Framework
The system of internal control is designed to manage
risk to a reasonable level rather than eliminate all risk
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.  The system of internal
control is based on an ongoing process designed to:

identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement
of organisational policies, aims and objectives; and

evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised
and the impact should they be realised, and to
manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.

The system of internal control has been in place in the
Trust for the year ended 31 March 2013 and up to the
date of approval of the annual report and accounts and
accords with Department of Health, Social Services and
Public Safety guidance.

The Board exercises strategic control over the operation
of the organisation through a system of corporate
governance which includes:

a schedule of matters reserved for Board decisions;

a scheme of delegation, which delegates decision
making authority within set parameters to the Chief
Executive and other officers; and

standing orders and standing financial instructions,
including the establishment of an audit committee,
an assurance committee and a remuneration
committee.

The system of internal financial control is based on a
framework of regular financial information,
administrative procedures including the segregation of
duties and a system of delegation and accountability.

In particular it includes:

comprehensive budgeting systems with an annual
budget which is reviewed and agreed by the Board;

regular reviews by the Board of periodic and annual
financial reports which indicate financial
performance against the forecast;

setting targets to measure financial and other
performances;

clearly defined capital investment control
guidelines; and

as appropriate, formal budget management
disciplines.

The process of maintaining and reviewing the
effectiveness of internal control is embedded
throughout the organisation. In particular:

The Trust Board exercises financial supervision and
control by:

Approving the financial strategy;

Requiring the submission and approval of budgets
within approved allocations/overall income;

Defining and approving essential features in respect
of important procedures and financial systems
(including the need to obtain value for money); and

Defining specific responsibilities placed on directors
and employees as indicated in the Scheme of
Delegation Document.

All members of the Board and employees, severally and
collectively, are responsible for:

The security of the property of the Trust;

Avoiding loss;

Exercising economy and efficiency in the use of
resources; and

Conforming to the requirements of Standing Orders,
Standing Financial Instructions, Financial
Procedures, the Scheme of Delegation and other
financial procedures which the Director of Finance
may issue.
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The Audit Committee’s primary role is to
independently contribute to the Trust Board’s overall
process for ensuring that an effective internal financial
control system is maintained.

The Assurance Committee is responsible for assuring
the Trust Board that effective and regularly reviewed
arrangements are in place to support the
implementation, maintenance and development of
governance (clinical and non-clinical) and risk
management and that such matters are properly
considered and communicated to the Board.
The Remuneration Committee’s primary role is to
advise the Board about appropriate remuneration and
terms of service for the Chief Executive and Executive
Directors employed by the Trust.

4. Business Planning and Risk Management
Business planning and risk management is at the heart
of governance arrangements to ensure that statutory
obligations and ministerial priorities are properly
reflected in the management of business at all levels in
the organisation.

The Board identifies the strategic, corporate objectives
and risks and monitors the achievement of these in the
public interest. It has established a framework of
prudent and effective controls to manage these risks,
underpinned by core controls assurance standards.
Decisions are taken by the Board within a framework of
good governance to ensure a successful organisation,
which is always striving to achieve excellence.
The Trust’s Corporate Plan sets the strategic direction
for the Trust in line with the stated purpose, mission
and vision of the organisation, aligned to the relevant
principles and values, which direct action consistent
with Ministerial priorities.  Key strategic aims are
identified through this process which leads to the
development of strategic objectives which contribute to
delivery of those aims.

The Corporate Plan is supported by an annual Trust
Delivery Plan which is developed to take account of
available resources and outline Trust priorities in terms
of actions and activity to secure objectives.
The Board of the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service

HSC Trust has established an Assurance Committee,
which is a sub-committee of the Board, and is
responsible for overseeing all aspects of risk
management within the organisation.  The Assurance
Committee meets at least three times a year and reviews
the Corporate Risk Register, compliance with Controls
Assurance Standards and the report of Untoward
Incidents as standing items, as well as other health and
safety and risk management issues.  The meetings are
recorded and the minutes are reported to the Trust
Board. The Trust’s Medical Director has been given
delegated responsibility for risk management and a full
time Risk Manager has been in post since July 2005.

In order to strengthen the arrangements for Risk
Management, the Trust Board continues to review the
arrangements in place in respect of risk management.
The NIAS Risk Management Strategy has been
reviewed during the year to reflect the revised
governance arrangements and developments in the
area during 2012/13.

The Trust’s Risk Management Strategy specifies a
number of reactive and proactive ways in which risk
can be identified.  The means of identification include,
although not exclusively, untoward incident reporting,
complaints management, risk assessment, claims
management, controls assurance, benchmarking and
consultation with staff and service users.  The strategy
also places upon all Trust employees the responsibility
to be aware of and to report any and all risks to which
they or the Trust are exposed.

Identified risks are recorded on the Risk Register,
evaluated and, if necessary re-evaluated, in line with
the AS/NZS 4360 Risk Management Standard.  In
accordance with the Trust’s risk strategy, this takes
into account the likelihood and potential impact on
the Trust’s patients, employees, environment,
reputation and resources.  This evaluation then
prompts the development of individual risk treatment
plans against which progress is monitored through the
Trust’s Risk Register.

Corporate Risks are those that impact on the
organisation as a whole or which cannot be resolved
immediately or adequately reduced by treatment at a

38 + NIAS HSC TRUST ANNUAL REPORT 2013 +



local level.  They are recorded on the Corporate Risk
Register, which is reviewed at each meeting of the
Assurance Committee and by the responsible manager,
on a continual basis.

Local Risks are those which have a localised impact
and which can be reduced to an acceptable level by
treatment at a local level.  These are recorded on the
Local Risk Register and are the responsibility of the
Trusts line management.  Local Risk Register updates
are forwarded to the relevant Directors for distribution
and review at local level on a bi-monthly basis.

5. Information Governance
In respect of risks to information, the Trust has in
place information governance policies and procedures
to support this area and has participated in data
protection reviews and governance audits.  The
Director of Finance and ICT is the Trust’s Senior
Information Risk Officer (SIRO) and is supported by
Information Asset Owners (IAOs) throughout the
Trust.  Training has been provided to staff to support
the information governance agenda.  The SIRO leads
the Information Governance risk assessment and
management processes within the Trust and advises
the Board on the effectiveness of information risk
management across the organisation.  In addition, the
Trust has established an Information Governance
Steering Group, which will review the management of
all information risks and information governance
arrangements within the Trust.

A small number of information governance incidents
which are not considered significant  have been
reported throughout the 2012/13 year.  These were
fully investigated and action to improve control in
this area taken as appropriate.

The Medical Director has been appointed as the Trust’s
Caldicott Guardian with particular responsibility for
access to, and the use of, person identifiable patient
information.  Part of this role includes his appointment
to the UK Council of Caldicott Guardians.  The
Caldicott Guardian and the SIRO support the Trust
Board in recognising the importance of best practice in
relation to the broader information governance agenda.

6. Personal and Public Involvement
During 2012/13 NIAS engaged with service users to
develop a Personal and Public Involvement (PPI)
Strategy and Action Plan for the Trust.  This was then
issued for wider consultation prior to submission to
Trust Board for approval.  The strategy sets out the
Trust’s plans to develop systems to ensure the
involvement of patients, carers and the public in
decisions about our service which affect them. 

We continue to work in partnership with other HSC
organisations to ensure a collaborative approach to this
work and avoid duplication but also engage directly
with service users around ambulance specific issues.
This has included for example working with the Patient
Client Council to participate in a Transport Workshop
and Citizen’s Jury, engaging with Local Commissioning
Groups and undertaking dialogue with service users to
inform specific policy areas.  We are committed to
demonstrating how this engagement is used to inform
improvements in our work.  One example of this is the
recent development of a leaflet providing information
on how to access our services and explaining ‘what
happens when you call 999’, developed as a direct
result of engagement with service users.

+ NIAS HSC TRUST ANNUAL REPORT 2013 + 39



7. Assurance
The Trust assessed its compliance with the applicable
Controls Assurance Standards which were defined by
the Department and against which a degree of
progress was expected in 2012/13.

Following the audit, the Trust achieved the following
levels of compliance for 2012/13:
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Standard DHSSPSNI Expected Trust Level of Reviewed By
Level of Compliance Compliance

Buildings, land, plant and 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
non-medical equipment (Substantive)

Emergency Planning 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
(Substantive)

Environment Management 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
(Substantive)

Financial Management   75% - 99% Substantive Internal Audit
(Core Standard) (Substantive)

Fire safety 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
(Substantive)

Fleet and Transport Management 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
(Substantive)

Governance                     75% - 99% Substantive Internal Audit
(Core Standard) (Substantive)

Health & Safety 75% - 99% Substantive Internal Audit
(Substantive)

Human Resources 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
(Substantive)

Infection Control 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
(Substantive)

Information Communication 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
Technology (Substantive)

Management of Purchasing 75% - 99% Moderate Internal Audit
and Supply (Substantive)

Medical Devices and 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
Equipment Management (Substantive)

Medicines Management 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
(Substantive)

Records Management 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
(Substantive)

Risk Management           75% - 99% Substantive Internal Audit
(Core Standard) (Substantive)

Security Management 75% - 99% Substantive Self Assessment
(Substantive)

Waste Management 75% - 99% Substantive Internal Audit
(Substantive)



With the exception of the Management of Purchasing
& Supply, the Trust has met the required levels of
compliance as determined by the Department.
Departmental Guidance HSS (PPM) 1/2005 indicates
standards that are not applicable to the Trust which
are not included in the table above.

The Trust continues to develop systems and processes
to ensure compliance with Controls Assurance
Standards.  An action plan will be developed for any
areas of non-compliance within controls assurance
standards and progress against the plan will be
monitored throughout the year.

The Trust recognises that the overall assessment for
each controls assurance standard is based on a number
of criteria.  While there may be significant internal
control issues identified by internal audit that are
reflected in the self-assessment against specific criteria,
overall substantive compliance has been achieved.
Areas identified by internal audit as significant
internal control issues are considered below. 

8. Sources of Independent Assurance
The NIAS obtains Independent Assurance from the
following sources:

Internal Audit

External Audit

The Trust also relies on other significant assurance
functions, both internal and external to the organisation,
and considers the implications of any relevant findings
for the governance of the organisation.  These may
include, but will not be limited to, any reports issued by
the Comptroller and Auditor General or Public Accounts
Committee, reviews by DHSSPSNI commissioned bodies,
the Regulation and Quality Improvement Authority
(RQIA), the Medicines Regulatory Group and other
professional and regulatory bodies with responsibility for
the performance of staff or functions (e.g. Joint Royal
Colleges Ambulance Liaison Committee (JRCALC),
Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC), Royal
Colleges and other accreditation bodies).

The Trust commissions an internal audit service from
The Business Services Organisation (BSO) which
operates to defined standards and whose work is
informed by an analysis of risk to which the Trust is
exposed.  Annual audit plans are based on this
analysis.  In 2012/13 Internal Audit reviewed the
following systems:
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Audit Assignment

Key Financial Controls

Payroll 

Non Pay Expenditure

Bank and Cash

Budgetary Control

General Ledger

Management of Contracts

Risk Management,

Assurance Framework, and 

Performance Management

Workforce Planning

Information Communications
Technology, Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery

Overall Level of Assurance

Satisfactory

Overall Satisfactory, Payroll Processing Substantial                      

Satisfactory

Satisfactory

Satisfactory

Satisfactory

Limited

Satisfactory

Limited

Limited

Satisfactory

Satisfactory



In the annual report, the Internal Auditor’s overall
opinion for the year ended 31 March 2013 was that
there was a satisfactory system of internal control
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives.
However Limited assurance is provided in a number of
key areas - management of contracts, assurance
framework & performance management and the Trust
has not achieved substantive compliance with the
Management of Purchasing & Supply controls
assurance standard.

Limited assurance was provided in relation to the
arrangements in place in respect of the management
of contracts.  This related particularly to the
arrangements in place for a complex contract with
respect to the allocation of work, the accuracy of
charging compared to contracted rates, the basis of
charging for some elements within the contract and
the adequacy and application of procedures.  These are
similar findings to a report on this area requested by
the Trust in 2011/12.  A programme of work in
conjunction with relevant partners, including the
Procurement and Logistics Service, has been developed
to progress action and address these weaknesses.

In addition, issues have been identified in respect of
Estate and in particular the management of contracts
and procurement.  The Trust operates from a diverse
ambulance estate at sixty one facilities across Northern
Ireland.  The majority of this estate is located on HSC
property and, with only a few exceptions, is owned by
the local Health and Social Care Trust.  NIAS has no
dedicated In House Estates function.  For larger capital
schemes, the Trust is supported by the Health Estates
Investment Group (HEIG) which provides appropriate
infrastructure and expertise in this specialised area.  For
smaller estate management matters, the Trust has
historically relied upon local HSC Health Estates
functions to provide estate management and
procurement for NIAS locations.  This has worked well
for many years, but more recently timely access and
response from local HSC Health Estates functions has
become problematic.  NIAS continues to engage with
local HSC Health Estate functions, but has increasingly
found a requirement to engage contractors for low
value works, for example maintenance, repair and
minor works to ensure that Ambulance locations

remain operational.  The Trust is currently reviewing
arrangements in this area with a view to tendering for
these services and will look to the relevant HSC
Centres of Procurement Expertise for support to
progress the matter to a satisfactory conclusion.  The
issues raised above are the reasons that the Trust has
not achieved substantive compliance with the
Purchasing and Supply Controls Assurance standard.  

Limited assurance on the Assurance Framework was
provided on the basis that while a new Assurance
Framework has been developed since fieldwork
commenced, this was not complete in 2012/13 and
required further development to define gaps in
controls and actions planned to mitigate those gaps.
Limited assurance was provided in relation to
Performance Management on the basis that reporting
of performance against targets did not include up to
date information in respect of a report presented to
the Assurance Committee on 14th March 2013.
In respect of non pay expenditure, Internal Audit
identified instances where rates for agency staff could
not be readily reconciled to current applicable pay
scales and agreed rates.

Recommendations to address these control weaknesses
have been considered by the Audit Committee and
have been or are currently being implemented.
Progress on implementation will continue to be
reviewed by Internal Audit and considered by the
Audit Committee.

During the year, the Trust Board met in workshop
form and assessed its own performance against key
functions, for example elements contained in Trust
Standing Orders, to provide an assurance of broad
compliance with requirements.  In addition, the board
has met to consider the Board Governance Self-
Assessment Toolkit for DHSSPSNI bodies.  This work
has created a platform for progress and further work to
develop action plans and address gaps and issues
identified will be carried out in 2013/14.

The Internal Audit assessment of Risk Management,
Assurance Framework and Performance Management
conducted during 2012/13 incorporated a survey of
board members views on matters including the
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provision, quality and suitability of data and
information presented to Trust Board. The responses
were largely positive and indicated clear agreement
from all Trust Board members in respect of the
provision, quality and suitability of data and
information provided to Trust Board.

The NIAS Assurance Report to Trust Board was
developed in response to DHSSPSNI guidance on
Assurance Frameworks.  As part of on-going
development and in response to Internal Audit
findings, the Assurance Framework has been revisited
and a replacement developed which will be subject to
detailed consideration by the Trust Board through the
Assurance Committee in 2013/14, commencing with a
workshop in June 2013. The Trust Board has
determined that the work to date represents a solid
base for development in the future.

9. Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for the
review of effectiveness of the system of internal
governance.  My review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal governance is informed by the work
of the internal auditors and the executive managers
within the Trust who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the internal control
framework, and comments made by the external
auditors in their management letter and other reports.
I have been advised on the implications of the result
of my review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control by the Trust Board, Audit Committee
and Assurance Committee.  A plan to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement to
the system is in place.

10. Internal Governance Divergences
Progress on prior year significant internal control
issues
Internal Audit also carried out a follow up review on
previous audit recommendations.  Significant progress
has been made and forty eight (75%) of
recommendations were fully implemented, a further
fourteen (22%) were partially implemented and two
(3%) were not yet implemented.  

The recommendations not yet implemented were in
respect of Information Governance where a
comprehensive data flow exercise to identify instances
where data is transferred outside of NIAS has been
partially undertaken, but remains to be completed for
all Directorates.  Once completed, a full analysis of
information governance risks for inclusion in the
appropriate risk register will be carried out and an
Information Asset Register compiled.

Financial Position
During 2012/13 the Trust continued with efforts to
secure financial breakeven in a difficult financial
environment.  All previously required efficiency
savings have been delivered and the Trust delivered a
further £1.2 million of cash releasing efficiency
measures through a range of recurrent and non-
recurrent initiatives.

Senior Executive Remuneration
Progress has been made in this area.  During the year a
job evaluation process in relation to Senior Executives
was concluded.  This job evaluation process was carried
out by the DHSSPSNI on behalf of NIAS and resulted in
a re-grading of all affected Executive Directors to a
higher pay level.  The entire process was carried out in
conjunction and with the approval of the DHSSPS.  In
line with Terms of Reference, these matters were
considered by the Remuneration Committee and
advised to and approved by the Trust Board.

Prior year control issues which continue to be
considered control issues
Management of Contracts
Issues in relation to the Management of Contracts
were identified in 2011/12 and remain issues in
2012/13 as outlined above.  

Restructuring of Acute Services
Further changes in the wider acute sector health care
system continued during 2012/13 which necessitated
the revision and enhancement of ambulance resources
to compensate for the withdrawal of some acute
services and changes in some specialties.  This
continues to place additional pressure on NIAS in
relation to the provision of extra resources, both staff
and non-staff, at short notice and against a backdrop 
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of increasing activity and delays in patient handover
at emergency departments.  This continues to present
a risk for the future and the Trust is engaged with the
development and implementation of a programme of
work led by the HSCB on the direction of the Minister.

Agenda for Change
The Trust continues with the agreed process of Agenda
for Change in partnership with Trade Unions.  However,
there remain uncertainties over the outcome of the
process and the Trust cannot predict what the final
outcome will be or when the process will be completed.
The Trust will continue to fulfil its obligations under the
agreed Agenda for Change process.

In line with the agreed process and in response to
advice received from the Joint Chairs of the Regional
Joint Negotiating Committee, the Trust has referred
the evaluation of three NIAS posts (Paramedics, RRV
Paramedics and Emergency Medical Technicians) to
the Regional Quality Assurance Team.  Progress in this
area will continue to be reported to Trust Board.
The Trust also recognises the potential for significant
recurrent costs in relation to Agenda for Change and
will continue to liaise with the HSC Board and the
DHSSPS in respect of funding arrangements.

Pandemic Flu
Pandemic flu remains a very significant risk to business
continuity and the delivery of strategic objectives.  The
Trust continues to build upon lessons learnt and update
systems and processes as appropriate.

Business Services Transformation Programme
The Trust continues to engage as part of the Business
Services Transformation Programme (BSTP) which is
working to introduce replacement Finance and
Human Resource systems.  Specific elements of the
programme include replacement Financial,
Procurement and Logistics (FPL) systems, replacement
Human Resource, Payroll, Travel and Subsistence
(HRPTS) systems and the introduction of Shared
Services. There are a number of key risks associated
with the introduction of replacement systems and
changes in working practices.  These risks relate to
maintaining business as usual, ensuring the successful
transition to the new systems and practices and also in
ensuring that the benefits of modern systems and
ways of working are realised.  The Trust will continue
to work with the BSTP to mitigate these risks.
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New issues in the current year and anticipated
future issues
Financial Position
The savings requirement for 2013/14 financial year
increases by £1.07m to £2.25m in total.  The Trust will
continue to work with all stakeholders to achieve
these savings while maintaining safe and effective care
to patients.

Transforming Your Care
The NIAS is identified as a key player in the future
strategic changes envisioned for healthcare in N
Ireland, however, the board has identified risks and
concerns in relation to implementation and
engagement.  It is recognised that implementation
through local Trusts, Local Commissioning Groups
(LCGs) and Integrated Care Partnerships will require
management by NIAS and regional bodies to maintain
coherence from a NIAS perspective.

Board Cohesion
The challenges facing NIAS present a risk to
maintaining Trust Board cohesion, necessary for
effective governance and a clear focus on achieving
objectives.  Recent issues occupying the Board in
relation to decision-making processes, assurance
reporting and performance management highlight the
importance of board cohesion, leadership and
direction in a time of change.

11. Conclusion
The NIAS Trust has a rigorous system of accountability
which I can rely on as Accounting Officer to form an
opinion on the probity and use of public funds, as
detailed in and required by Managing Public Money
Northern Ireland.

Further to considering the accountability framework
within the Trust and in conjunction with assurances
given to me by the Head of Internal Audit, I am
content that the NIAS has operated a generally sound
system of internal control and governance during the
period 2012/13 that supports the achievement of
policies, aims and objectives.

Mr Liam McIvor
Chief Executive
13 June 2013
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+[ Northern Ireland Ambulance    
Service HSC Trust ]+

Accounts for the year ended
31 March 2013
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Under the Health and Personal Social Services
(Northern Ireland) Order 1972 (as amended by Article
6 of the Audit and Accountability (Northern Ireland)
Order 2003), the Department of Health, Social Services
and Public Safety has directed the Northern Ireland
Ambulance Service HSC Trust to prepare for each
financial year a statement of accounts in the form and
on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  The
financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis
and must provide a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC
Trust, of its income and expenditure, changes in
taxpayers equity and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the financial statements the Accounting
Officer is required to comply with the requirements of
the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FREM)
and in particular to:

- observe the Accounts Direction issued by the
Department of Health, Social Services and Public
Safety including relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;

- make judgements and estimates on a reasonable
basis;

- state whether applicable accounting standards as
set out in FREM have been followed, and
disclose and explain any material departures in
the financial statements;

- prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Northern Ireland Ambulance
Service HSC Trust will continue in operation;

- keep proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Northern Ireland
Ambulance Service HSC Trust; and

- pursue and demonstrate value for money in the
services the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service
HSC Trust provides and in its use of public assets
and the resources it controls.

The Permanent Secretary of the Department of Health,
Social Services and Public Safety as Accounting Officer
for health and personal social services resources in
Northern Ireland has designated Mr L McIvor of the
Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust as the
Accounting Officer for the Trust.  The responsibilities
of an Accounting Officer, including responsibility for
the propriety and regularity of the public finances for
which the Accounting Officer is answerable, for
keeping proper records and for safeguarding the
Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust’s
assets, are set out in the Accountable Officer
Memorandum, issued by the Department of Health,
Social Services and Public Safety.  
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I certify that the annual accounts set out in the
financial statements and notes to the accounts (pages
51 to 95) which I am required to prepare on behalf of
the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust
have been compiled from and are in accordance with
the accounts and financial records maintained by the
Trust and with the accounting standards and policies
for HSC bodies approved by the DHSSPS.

........................................................ Director of Finance
13 June 2013
........................................................ Date

I certify that the annual accounts set out in the
financial statements and notes to the accounts (pages
51 to 95) as prepared in accordance with the above
requirements have been submitted to and duly
approved by the Board.

........................................................ Chairman
13 June 2013
........................................................ Date

........................................................ Chief Executive
13 June 2013
........................................................ Date
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I certify that I have audited the financial statements of
the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service Health and
Social Care Trust for the year ended 31 March 2013
under the Health and Personal Social Services
(Northern Ireland) Order 1972, as amended. These
comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the
Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. These
financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out within them. I have also
audited the information in the Remuneration Report
that is described in that report as having been audited. 

Respective responsibilities of the Accounting
Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Northern
Ireland Ambulance Service Health and Social Care
Trust’s and Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, the
Accounting Officer is responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view. My responsibility is to
audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with the Health and
Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order
1972, as amended. I conducted my audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require me and my
staff to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s
Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This
includes an assessment of: whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Northern Ireland
Ambulance Service Health and Social Care Trust’s
circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the Northern Ireland
Ambulance Service Health and Social Care Trust; and
the overall presentation of the financial statements. In
addition I read all the financial and non-financial
information in the Annual Report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements.
If I become aware of any apparent material
misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the
implications for my certificate.

In addition, I am required to obtain evidence
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes
intended by the Assembly and the financial
transactions recorded in the financial statements
conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Opinion on Regularity
In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure
and income recorded in the financial statements have
been applied to the purposes intended by the
Assembly and the financial transactions recorded in
the financial statements conform to the authorities
which govern them. 
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Opinion on financial statements
In my opinion:

the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of Northern Ireland Ambulance Service
Health and Social Care Trust’s affairs as at 31 March
2013 and of the net expenditure, cash flows and
changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year then
ended; and

the financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Health and
Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order
1972, as amended and Department of Health,
Social Services and Public Safety directions issued
thereunder. 

Opinion on other matters

In my opinion:

the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited
has been properly prepared in accordance with
Department of Health, Social Services and Public
Safety directions made under the Health and
Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order
1972, as amended; and 

the information given in Chairman’s Preface,
Directors’ Report, Chief Executive’s Report, and the
Management Commentary for the financial year
for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which I report by exception
I have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept; or

the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records; or

I have not received all of the information and
explanations I require for my audit; or 

the Governance Statement does not reflect
compliance with Department of Finance and
Personnel’s guidance. 

Report

I have no observations to make on these financial
statements. 

KJ Donnelly
Comptroller and Auditor General 
Northern Ireland Audit Office
106 University Street
Belfast 
BT7 1EU

25 June 2013
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2013 2012
NOTE £000s £000s

Expenditure

Staff costs 3.1 (47,858) (47,939)
Depreciation 4.1 (3,919) (3,511)
Other expenditures 4.1 (11,729) (10,840)

(63,506) (62,290)

Income

Income from activities 5.1 1,515 1,576 
Other income 5.2 342 132 
Deferred income 5.3 0 0 

1,857 1,708 

Net Expenditure (61,649) (60,582)

Revenue Resource Limit (RRL) 25.1 61,673 60,659 

Surplus / (Deficit) against RRL 24 77 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENDITURE
2013 2012

NOTE £000s £000s

Net gain/ (loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  6.1-2/10.1 131 456 

Net gain/ (loss) on revaluation of intangibles 7.1-2/10.1 0 0 

Net gain/ (loss) on revaluation of available for sales financial assets 0 0 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENDITURE for the year ended 31 March 2013 (61,518) (60,126)

The notes on pages 55 to 95 form part of these accounts.
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2013 2012 
NOTE £000s £000s £000s £000s

Non Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 6.1-2 24,940 24,929 
Intangible assets 7.1-2 27 44 
Financial assets 8.1 0 0 
Trade and other receivables 12.1 0 0 
Other current assets 12.1 0 0 

Total Non Current Assets 24,967 24,973 

Current Assets
Assets classified as held for sale 9.1 0 0 
Inventories 11.1 95 77 
Trade and other receivables 12.1 648 389 
Other current assets 12.1 239 94 
Intangible current assets 12.1 0 0 
Financial assets 8.1 0 0 
Cash and cash equivalents 13.1 113 95 

Total Current Assets 1,095 655 

Total Assets 26,062 25,628 

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 14.1 (9,111) (9,903)
Other liabilities 14.1 0 0 
Intangible current liabilities 14.1 0 0 
Provisions 16.1-5 (1,007) (293)

Total Current Liabilities (10,118) (10,196)

Non Current Assets plus / less Net Current Assets / Liabilities 15,944 15,432 

Non Current Liabilities
Provisions 16.1-5 (2,403) (2,850)
Other payables > 1 yr 14.1 (2,261) (2,261)
Financial liabilities 8.1 0 0 

Total Non Current Liabilities (4,664) (5,111)

Assets less Liabilities 11,280 10,321 

Taxpayers’ Equity
Revaluation reserve 4,802 4,692 
SoCNE reserve 6,478 5,629 

11,280 10,321

The notes on pages 55 to 95 form part of these accounts.

Signed (Chairman) Date 13 June 2013

Signed (Chief Executive) Date 13 June 2013
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NOTE SoCNE Reserve Revaluation Reserve Total

£000s £000s £000s

Balance at 31 March 2011 5,738 4,314 10,052 

Changes in Taxpayers Equity 2011-12

Grant from DHSSPS 60,335 0 60,335 

Transfers between reserves 78 (78) 0 

(Comprehensive expenditure for the year) (60,582) 456 (60,126)

Transfer of asset ownership 38 0 38 

Non cash charges - auditors remuneration 4.1 22 0 22 

Balance at 31 March 2012 5,629 4,692 10,321 

Changes in Taxpayers Equity 2012-13

Grant from DHSSPS 62,448 0 62,448 

Transfers between reserves 21 (21) 0 

(Comprehensive expenditure for the year) (61,649) 131 (61,518)

Transfer of asset ownership 6 0 6 

Non cash charges - auditors remuneration 4.1 23 0 23 

Balance at 31 March 2013 6,478 4,802 11,280 
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2013 2012
NOTE £000s £000s

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net expenditure after interest (61,649) (60,582)
Adjustments for non cash costs 4,364 3,766 
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables (404) 118 

Less movements in receivables relating to items not passing through the NEA
Movements in receivables relating to the sale of property, plant and equipment 0 0 
Movements in receivables relating to the sale of intangibles 0 0 
Movements in receivables relating to finance leases 0 0 
Movements in receivables relating to PFI and other service concession arrangement contracts 0 0 

(Increase) / decrease in inventories (18) (29)
Increase / (decrease) in trade payables (792) 397 

Less movements in payables relating to items not passing through the NEA
Movements in payables relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment 575 1,442 
Movements in payables relating to the purchase of intangibles 260 (219)
Movements in payables relating to finance leases 0 0 
Movements in payables relating to PFI and other service concession arrangement contracts 0 0 

Use of provisions 16.1-5 (152) (599)

Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities (57,816) (55,706)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

(Purchase of property, plant & equipment) 6.1-2 (4,724) (4,657)
(Purchase of intangible assets) 7.1-2 0 0 
Proceeds of disposal of property, plant & equipment 77 19 
Proceeds on disposal of intangibles 0 0 
Proceeds on disposal of assets held for resale 33 6 

Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities (4,614) (4,632)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Grant in aid 62,448 60,335 
Cap element of payments - finance leases and on balance sheet (SoFP) PFI and other
service concession arrangements 0 0 

Net Financing 62,448 60,335 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents in the Period 18 (3)
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Period 13.1 95 98 
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Period 13.1 113 95 

The notes on pages 55 to 95 form part of these accounts.
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Note 1 
Statement of
Accounting Policies

1. Authority

These accounts have been prepared in a form
determined by the Department of Health, Social
Services and Public Safety based on guidance
from the Department of Finance and Personnel’s
Financial Reporting manual (FReM) and in
accordance with the requirements of Article
90(2)(a) of the Health and Personal Social
Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972 No 1265
(NI 14) as amended by Article 6 of the Audit and
Accountability (Northern Ireland) Order 2003.

The accounting policies follow IFRS to the
extent that it is meaningful and appropriate to
HSC Trusts.  Where a choice of accounting
policy is permitted, the accounting policy which
has been judged to be most appropriate to the
particular circumstances of the HSC body for the
purpose of giving a true and fair view has been
selected. The HSC body’s accounting policies
have been applied consistently in dealing with
items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the
historical cost convention modified to account
for the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment.

1.2 Currency and Rounding

These accounts are presented in UK pounds
sterling.  The figures in the accounts are shown
to the nearest £1,000.

1.3 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment assets comprise:
Land, Buildings (excluding Dwellings),
Transport Equipment, Plant & Machinery,
Information Technology, Furniture & Fittings,
and Assets under Construction.

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment must be
capitalised if:

it is held for use in delivering services or for
administrative purposes;

it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to, or service potential will be supplied to,
the Trust;

it is expected to be used for more than one
financial year;

the cost of the item can be measured
reliably; and

the item has a cost of at least £5,000; or

collectively, a number of items have a cost of at
least £5,000 and individually have a cost of
more than £1,000, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly
simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to
have simultaneous disposal dates and are under
single managerial control; or

items form part of the initial equipping and
setting-up cost of a new building or station,
irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
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On initial recognition property, plant and
equipment are measured at cost including any
expenditure such as installation, directly
attributable to bringing them into working
condition.  Items classified as “under
construction” are recognised in the Statement of
Financial Position to the extent that money has
been paid or a liability has been incurred.

Valuation of Land and Buildings
Land and buildings are carried at the last
professional valuation, in accordance with the
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
(Statement of Asset Valuation Practice) Appraisal
and Valuation Standards in so far as these are
consistent with the specific needs of the HSC.

The last valuation was carried out on 31 January
2010 by Land and Property Services (LPS) which
is an independent executive within the
Department of Finance and Personnel.  The
valuers are qualified to meet the ‘Member of
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors’
(MRICS) standard.

Professional revaluations of land and buildings
are undertaken at least once in every five year
period and are revalued annually, between
professional valuations, using indices provided
by LPS.

Land and buildings used for the Trust’s services
or for administrative purposes are stated in the
Statement of Financial Position at their revalued
amounts, being the fair value at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Fair values are determined as follows:

land and non-specialised buildings – open
market value for existing use;

specialised buildings – depreciated replacement
cost; and

properties surplus to requirements – the lower of
open market value less any material directly
attributable selling costs, or book value at date
of moving to noncurrent assets.

Modern Equivalent Asset
DFP has adopted a standard approach to
depreciated replacement cost valuations based on
modern equivalent assets and, where it would
meet the location requirements of the service
being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Land and Property Services (LPS) have included
this requirement within the latest valuation.

Assets Under Construction (AUC)
Properties in the course of construction for
service or administration purposes are carried at
cost, less any impairment loss.  Cost includes
professional fees as allowed by IAS 23 for assets
held at fair value.  Assets are revalued and
depreciation commences when they are brought
into use.

Short Life Assets
Short life IT assets are not indexed.  Short life is
defined as a useful life of up to and including 5
years.  Short life assets are carried at depreciated
historic cost as this is not considered to be
materially different from fair value and are
depreciated over their useful life.

Where estimated life of fixtures and equipment
exceed 5 years, suitable indices will be applied
each year and depreciation will be based on
indexed amount.

Revaluation Reserve
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the
Revaluation Reserve except when it reverses an
impairment for the same asset previously
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is
credited to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there.  A revaluation
decrease is recognised as an impairment charged
to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent that
there is a balance on the reserve for the asset
and, thereafter, to expenditure.
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1.4 Depreciation

No depreciation is provided on freehold land,
since land has unlimited or a very long
established useful life.  Items under construction
are not depreciated until they are commissioned.
Properties that are surplus to requirements and
which meet the definition of “non-current assets
held for sale” are also not depreciated.

Otherwise, depreciation is charged to write off
the costs or valuation of property, plant and
equipment and similarly, amortisation is applied
to intangible non-current assets, less any
residual value, over their estimated useful lives,
in a manner that reflects the consumption of
economic benefits or service potential of the
assets.  Assets held under finance leases are also
depreciated over the lower of their estimated
useful lives and the terms of the lease.  The
estimated useful life of an asset is the period
over which the Trust expects to obtain
economic benefits or service potential from the
asset.  Estimated useful lives and residual values
are reviewed each year end, with the effect of
any changes recognised on a prospective basis.

The following asset lives have been used:

Asset Type Asset Life

Freehold Buildings 10 - 55 years

Leasehold Property Remaining period of lease

IT Assets 3 - 10 years

Intangible Assets 3 - 10 years

Other Equipment 3 - 15 years

1.5 Impairment Loss

If there has been an impairment loss due to a
general change in prices, the asset is written
down to its recoverable amount, with the loss
charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent
that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset
and, thereafter, to expenditure within the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
If the impairment is due to the consumption of
economic benefits the full amount of the
impairment is charged to the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure and an amount
up to the value of the impairment in the
Revaluation Reserve is transferred to the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reserve. Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised estimate of the
recoverable amount but capped at the amount
that would have been determined had there been
no initial impairment loss.  The reversal of the
impairment loss is credited firstly to the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure to
the extent of the decrease previously charged
there and thereafter to the Revaluation Reserve.

1.6 Subsequent Expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an
asset beyond its original specification, the
directly attributable cost is capitalised.  Where
subsequent expenditure, which meets the
definition of capital restores the asset to its
original specification, the expenditure is
capitalised and any existing carrying value of
the item replaced is written-out and charged to
operating expenses.

The overall useful life of the Trust’s buildings
takes account of the fact that different
components of those buildings have different
useful lives.  This ensures that depreciation is
charged on those assets at the same rate as if
separate components had been identified and
depreciated at different rates.
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1.7 Intangible Assets

Intangible assets includes any of the following
held - software, licences, trademarks, websites,
development expenditure, patents, goodwill and
intangible assets under construction.  Software
that is integral to the operating of hardware, for
example an operating system is capitalised as
part of the relevant item of property, plant and
equipment.  Software that is not integral to the
operation of hardware, for example application
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
Expenditure on research is not capitalised: it is
recognised as an operating expense in the period
in which it is incurred.

Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for
use;

the intention to complete the intangible
asset and use it;

the ability to sell or use the intangible asset;

how the intangible asset will generate
probable future economic benefits or service
potential;

the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete
the intangible asset and sell or use it; and

the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development.

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets
without physical substance, which are capable
of sale separately from the rest of the Trust’s
business or which arise from contractual or
other legal rights.  Intangible assets are
considered to have a finite life.  They are
recognised only when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to, or service
potential be provided to, the Trust; where the
cost of the asset can be measured reliably.  
All single items over £5,000 in value must be
capitalised while intangible assets which fall
within the grouped asset definition must be
capitalised if their individual value is at least
£1,000 each and the group is at least £5,000 
in value.

The amount recognised for internally-generated
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure
incurred from the date of commencement of the
intangible asset, until it is complete and ready
for use.

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at fair value. Following initial
recognition, intangible assets are carried at fair
value by reference to an active market, and as
no active market currently exists depreciated
replacement cost has been used as fair value.

1.8 Donated Assets

With effect from 1 April 2011, DFP changed the
above policy on Donated Asset Reserves. The
Donated Asset Reserve no longer exists.  What
used to be contained in the Donated Asset
Reserve has moved to the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure (previously
known as the General Fund) and to the
Revaluation Reserve.  Income for donated assets
is now recognised when received.

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC
Trust did not have a Donated Asset Reserve in
2013 (2012: £nil).
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1.9 Non-current Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use.  In order to meet
this definition IFRS 5 requires that the asset
must be immediately available for sale in its
current condition and that the sale is highly
probable.  A sale is regarded as highly probable
where an active plan is in place to find a buyer
for the asset and the sale is considered likely to
be concluded within one year.  Non-current
assets held for sale are measured at the lower of
their previous carrying amount and fair value,
less any material directly attributable selling
costs.  Fair value is open market value, where
one is available, including alternative uses.
Assets classified as held for sale are not
depreciated.

The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset
is the difference between the sale proceeds and
the carrying amount.  The profit from sale of
land which is a non depreciating asset is
recognised within income.  The profit from sale
of a depreciating asset is shown as a reduced
expense.  The loss from sale of land or from any
depreciating assets is shown within operating
expenses.  On disposal, the balance for the asset
on the Revaluation Reserve is transferred to the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reserve.

Property, plant or equipment that is to be
scrapped or demolished does not qualify for
recognition as held for sale.  Instead, it is
retained as an operational asset and its
economic life is adjusted.  The asset is de-
recognised when it is scrapped or demolished.

1.10 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.  This is considered to be a
reasonable approximation to fair value due to
the high turnover of stocks.

1.11 Income

Operating Income relates directly to the
operating activities of the Trust and is
recognised when, and to the extent that,
performance occurs, and is measured at the fair
value of the consideration receivable.

Grant in Aid
Funding received from other entities, including
the Department and the Health and Social Care
Board are accounted for as grant in aid and are
reflected through the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure Reserve.

1.12 Investments

The Trust does not have any investments.

1.13 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses for goods or services
are recognised when, and to the extent that,
they have been received. They are measured at
the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.14 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any
financial institution repayable without penalty
on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash
equivalents are investments that mature in 3
months or less from the date of acquisition and
that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
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1.15 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the lessee.  All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Trust as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under
finance leases are initially recognised, at the
inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower,
at the present value of the minimum lease
payments, with a matching liability for the lease
obligation to the lessor.  Lease payments are
apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve
a constant rate on interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.  Finance charges are
recognised in calculating the Trust’s
surplus/deficit.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.  Lease incentives are recognised initially as
a liability and subsequently as a reduction of
rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land
and building components are separated.  Leased
land may be either an operating lease or a
finance lease depending on the conditions in
the lease agreement and following the general
guidance set out in IAS 17.  Leased buildings are
assessed as to whether they are operating or
finance leases.

The Trust as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases
are recorded as receivables at the amount of the
Trust’s net investment in the leases.  Finance
lease income is allocated to accounting periods
so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return
on the Trust’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease.  Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

1.16 Private Finance Initiative (PFI)
Transactions

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC
Trust has had no PFI transactions during the
year.

1.17 Financial Instruments

Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised on the balance
sheet when the Trust becomes party to the
financial instrument contract or, in the case of
trade receivables, when the goods or services
have been delivered.  Financial assets are
derecognised when the contractual rights have
expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair
value.

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the
balance sheet when the Trust becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument or, in the case of trade payables,
when the goods or services have been received.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the
liability has been discharged, that is, the liability
has been paid or has expired.

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair
value.
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Financial Risk Management

IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that
financial instruments have had during the
period in creating or changing the risks a body
faces in undertaking its activities.  Because of
the relationships with HSC Commissioners, and
the manner in which they are funded, financial
instruments play a more limited role within
Trusts in creating risk than would apply to a non
public sector body of a similar size, therefore
Trusts are not exposed to the degree of financial
risk faced by business entities.  Trusts have
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds
and financial assets and liabilities are generated
by day to day operational activities rather than
being held to change the risks facing the Trusts
in undertaking activities. Therefore the HSC is
exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.

Currency Risk

The Trust is principally a domestic organisation
with the great majority of transactions, assets
and liabilities being in the UK and Sterling
based.  The Trust has no overseas operations.
The Trust therefore has low exposure to
currency rate fluctuations.

Interest Rate Risk

The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest
and therefore has low exposure to interest rate
fluctuations.

Credit Risk

Because the majority of the Trust’s income
comes from contracts with other public sector
bodies, the Trust has low exposure to credit risk.  

Liquidity Risk

Since the Trust receives the majority of its funding
through its principal Commissioner which is
voted through the Assembly, it is therefore not
exposed to significant liquidity risks.

1.18 Provisions

In Accordance with IAS 37, provisions are
recognised when the Trust has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Trust will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.  The amount recognised as a
provision is the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties.  

Where a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows using DFP’s discount rate of: -1.8%
(negative real rate) for up to and including 5
years; -1.0% (negative real rate) after year 5 and
up to 10 years; and +2.2% in real terms for 10
years and over (+2.35% for unfunded public
service pension schemes and employee early
departure obligations for all periods).

The Trust has also disclosed the carrying amount
at the beginning and end of the period,
additional provisions made, amounts used
during the period, unused amounts reversed
during the period and increases in the
discounted amount arising from the passage of
time and the affect of any change in the
discount rate.

When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, the receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursements will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.
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Present obligations arising under onerous
contracts are recognised and measured as a
provision.  An onerous contract is considered to
exist where the Trust has a contract under which
the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations
under the contract exceed the economic benefits
expected to be received under it.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the
Trust has developed a detailed formal plan for
the restructuring and has raised a valid
expectation in those affected that it will carry
out the restructuring by starting to implement
the plan or announcing its main features to
those affected by it.  The measurement of a
restructuring provision includes only the direct
expenditures arising from the restructuring,
which are those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not
associated with ongoing activities of the entity.

1.19 Contingencies

Under IAS 37, the Trust discloses contingent
liabilities where there is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Trust,
or a present obligation that is not recognised
because it is not probable that a payment will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently
reliably.  A contingent liability is disclosed unless
the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the Trust.  A
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.  

Where the time value of money is material,
contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.20 Employee Benefits

Short-term Employee Benefits
Under the requirements of IAS 19 Employee
Benefits, staff costs must be recorded as an
expense as soon as the organisation is obligated
to pay them.  This includes the cost of any
untaken leave that has been earned at the year
end.  This cost has been estimated using average
staff numbers and costs applied to the average
untaken leave balance determined from the
results of a representative sample to ascertain
leave balances as at 31 March 2013.  It is not
anticipated that the level of untaken leave will
vary significantly from year to year.  Untaken
flexi leave is estimated to be immaterial to the
Trust and has not been included.

Retirement Benefit Costs
The Trust participates in the HSC Superannuation
Scheme.  Under this multi-employer defined
benefit scheme both the Trust and employees pay
specified percentages of pay into the scheme and
the liability to pay benefit falls to the DHSSPS.
The Trust is unable to identify its share of the
underlying assets and liabilities in the scheme on
a consistent and reliable basis.  Further
information regarding the HSC Superannuation
Scheme can be found in the HSC Superannuation
Scheme Statement in the Departmental Resource
Account for the Department of Health, Social
Services and Public Safety.

The costs of early retirements are met by the
Trust and charged to the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure at the time the
Trust commits itself to the retirement.

As per the requirements of IAS 19, full actuarial
valuations by a professionally qualified actuary
are required at intervals not exceeding four
years.  The actuary reviews the most recent
actuarial valuation at the Statement of Financial
Position date and updates it to reflect current
conditions.  The 31 March 2008 valuation was
completed in 2010/11 and will be used in the
2012/13 accounts.
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1.21 Reserves

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reserve
Accumulated surpluses are accounted for in the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reserve.

Revaluation Reserve
The Revaluation Reserve reflects the unrealised
balance of cumulative indexation and
revaluation adjustments to assets.

1.22 Value Added Tax

Where output VAT is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant
expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets.

1.23 Third Party Assets

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money
held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in
the accounts since the Trust has no beneficial
interest in them.  Details of third party assets are
given in Note 24 to the accounts.

1.24 Government Grants

Government assistance for capital projects
whether from UK, or Europe, were treated as a
government grant even where there were no
conditions specifically relating to the operating
activities of the entity other than the
requirement to operate in certain regions or
industry sectors.  Such grants (does not include
grant-in-aid) were previously credited to a
Government Grant Reserve and were released to
income over the useful life of the asset.

DFP has issued new guidance effective from 1
April 2011.  Government Grant Reserves are no
longer permitted.  Income is generally
recognised when it is received.  In exceptional
cases where there are conditions attached to the
use of the grant, which, if not met, would mean
the grant is repayable, the income should be
deferred and released when obligations are met. 

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC
Trust did not have a Government Grant Reserve.

1.25 Losses and Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that the
Northern Ireland Assembly would not have
contemplated when it agreed funds for the
health service or passed legislation.  By their
nature they are items that ideally should not
arise.  They are therefore subject to special
control procedures compared with the
generality of payments.  They are divided into
different categories, which govern the way that
individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the
relevant functional headings in expenditure on
an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover
had HSC Trusts not been bearing their own risks
(with insurance premiums then being included
as normal revenue expenditure).  However, Note
26 on losses and special payments is compiled
directly from the losses and compensations
register which reports amounts on an accruals
basis with the exception of provisions for future
losses.

1.26 Accounting Standards that have been
Issued but have not yet been Adopted

Under IAS 8 there is a requirement to disclose
those standards which have been issued but not
yet adopted.
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The IASB have issued new and amended
standards (IFRS 10, IFRS 11 & IFRS 12), that
affect the consolidation and reporting of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
These standards have an effective date of
January 2013, and EU adoption is due from 1
January 2014.  The application of these IFRS
changes is subject to further review by Treasury
and the other Relevant Authorities before due
process consultation.

Accounting boundary IFRS' are currently
adapted in the FReM so that the Westminster
departmental accounting boundary is based on
ONS control criteria, as designated by Treasury.
A review of the NI financial process is currently
under discussion with the Executive.  Should
this go ahead, the impact on DHSSPS and its
arms length bodies is expected to focus around
the disclosure requirements under IFRS 12.

Management consider that any other new
accounting policies issued but not yet adopted
are unlikely to have a significant impact on the
accounts in the period of the initial application.
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Note 2 
Segmental Analysis

2.1 Analysis of Net Expenditure by Segment

For operational purposes, the services provided
by the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service are
broadly divided into emergency and non-
emergency services. As the Trust Board of the
Northern Ireland Ambulance Service in its
capacity as the 'Chief Operating Decision Maker'
receives financial information for the Trust as a
whole and makes decisions based on the
provision of an ambulance service for the whole
of Northern Ireland, it is appropriate that the
Trust reports on a one operational segment
basis.
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Note 3 
Staff numbers and
related costs

3.1 Staff Costs
2013 2012

Staff costs comprise: Permanently 
employed staff Others Total Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s

Wages and salaries 39,779 594 40,373 40,629

Social security costs 3,218 0 3,218 3,119

Other pension costs 4,267 0 4,267 4,191

Sub-Total 47,264 594 47,858 47,939

Capitalised staff costs 0 0 0 

Total Staff Costs Reported in Statement

of Comprehensive Expenditure 47,264 594 47,858 47,939

Less recoveries in respect of outward secondments 0 0

Total Net Costs 47,858 47,939

Staff Costs exclude £nil charged to capital projects during the year  (2012 £nil).

The Trust participates in the HSC Superannuation Scheme.  Under this multi-employer defined benefit scheme both the Trust

and employees pay specified percentages of pay into the scheme and the liability to pay benefit falls to the DHSSPS.  The Trust

is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities in the scheme on a consistent and reliable basis.  

As per the requirements of IAS 19, full actuarial valuations by a professionally qualified actuary are required at intervals not

exceeding four years.  The actuary reviews the most recent actuarial valuation at the Statement of Financial Position date

and updates it to reflect current conditions.  A full valuation as at 31 March 2008 was completed in  2010-11 and will be

used in the 2012/13 accounts.
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3.2   Average Number of Persons Employed

The average number of whole time equivalent persons employed during the year was as follows:

2013 2012

Permanently
employed 
staff Others Total Total
No. No. No. No.

Medical and dental 2 0 2 2 

Nursing and midwifery 0 0 0 0 

Professions allied to medicine 0 0 0 0 

Ancillaries 0 0 0 0 

Administrative & clerical 76 20 96 90 

Ambulance staff 1,053 7 1,060 1,047 

Works 3 0 3 3 

Other professional and technical 0 0 0 0 

Social services 0 0 0 0 

Other  0 0 0 0 

Total Average Number of Persons Employed 1,134 27 1,161 1,142 

Less average staff number relating to capitalised staff costs 0 0 0 

Less average staff number in respect of outward secondments 0 0 0 

Total Net Average Number of Persons Employed 1,134 27 1,161 1,142 

There are no staff employed on capital projects.

Medical and dental 2 0 2 2 

Nursing and midwifery 0 0 0 0 

Professions allied to medicine 0 0 0 0 

Ancillaries 0 0 0 0 

Administrative & clerical 76 20 96 90 

Ambulance staff 1,053 7 1,060 1,047 

Works 3 0 3 3 

Other professional and technical 0 0 0 0 

Social services 0 0 0 0 

Other  0 0 0 0 

Total Average Number of Persons Employed 1,134 27 1,161 1,142 

Less average staff number relating to capitalised staff costs 0 0 0 

Less average staff number in respect of outward secondments 0 0 0 

Total Net Average Number of Persons Employed 1,134 27 1,161 1,142 

There are no staff employed on capital projects.
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3.3 Reporting of Early Retirement and Other Compensation Scheme - Exit Packages

Exit package cost band Number of Compulsory Number of Other Total Number of Exit 

Redundancies Departures Agreed Packages by Cost Band

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

<£10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£10,000 - £25,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£25,000 - £50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£50,000 - £100,000 0 0 1 0 1 0 

£100,000 - £150,000 0 0 2 0 2 0 

£150,000 - £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 

> £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Number of Exit Packages by Type 0 0 3 0 3 0 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Total Resource Cost 0 0 323 0 323 0

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the HSC Pension Scheme

Regulations and the Compensation for Premature Retirement Regulations, statutory provisions made under the

Superannuation Act 1972. Exit costs are accounted for in full in the year in which the exit package is approved and agreed

and are included as operating expenses at note 4. Where early retirements have been agreed, the additional costs are met by

the employing authority and not by the HSC pension scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the pension scheme

and are not included in the table.
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3.4 Staff Benefits

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust paid £nil staff benefits in 2013 (2012 £nil).

3.5 Trust Management Costs
2013 2012

£000s £000s

Trust Management Costs 3,907 3,792 

Income:

RRL 61,673 60,659 

Income per Note 5 1,857 1,708 

Non cash RRL for movement in clinical negligence provision 2 (11)

Less interest receivable 0 0 

63,532 62,356 

Less adjustments as detailed in HSS (THR) 2/99 (409) (175)

Total Income 63,123 62,181 

% of Total Income 6.2% 6.1%

The above information is based on the Audit Commission’s definition “M2” Trust management costs, as detailed in HSS

(THR) 2/99.  The adjustments detailed above are exceptional items which may distort the management costs, ie income

generation from fuel recharges to other Trusts and non recurrent funding for projects undertaken.

3.6 Retirements Due to Ill-Health

During 2012/13 there were 6 early retirements from the Trust, agreed on the grounds of ill-health (2012: 3). The estimated

additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £62K (2012: £11k). These costs are borne by the HSC

Pension Scheme.
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Note 4 
Operating Expenses

4.1   Operating Expenses
2013 2012

£000s £000s

Purchase of care from non-HPSS bodies 0 0 

Revenue grants to voluntary organisations 0 0 

Capital grants to voluntary organisations 0 0 

Personal social services 0 0 

Recharges from other HSC organisations 747 771 

Supplies and services   -    Clinical 1,098 1,125 

Supplies and services   -    General 489 495 

Establishment 1,214 1,246 

Transport 5,403 4,910 

Premises 1,687 1,517 

Bad debts 0 0 

Rentals under operating leases 208 216 

Rentals under finance leases 0 0 

Finance cost of finance leases 0 0 

Interest charges 0 0 

PFI and other service concession arrangements service charges 0 0 

Research & development expenditure 0 0 

Clinical negligence - other expenditure 0 0 

BSO services 106 69 

Clinical training and other training 178 83 

Professional fees 15 17 

Patients travelling expenses 0 0 

Costs of exit packages not provided for 0 0 

Elective care 0 0 

Miscellaneous expenditure 139 136 

Non Cash Items

Depreciation 3,919 3,511 

Amortisation 17 22 

Impairments 86 16 

(Profit) on disposal of property, plant & equipment (excluding profit on land) (100) (24)

(Profit) on disposal of intangibles 0 0 

Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment (including land) 0 0 

Loss on disposal of intangibles 0 0 

Provisions provided for in year 379 141 

Cost of borrowing of provisions (unwinding of discount on provisions)  40 78 

Auditors remuneration 23 22 

Total 15,648 14,351 

In addition to the notional auditors remuneration above, during the year the Trust received services from its External

Auditor (the Northern Ireland Audit Office) to the value of £1,119 (2012 £nil).  This was in respect of fees for the National

Fraud Initiative 2012/13 exercise.
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Note 5 
Income

5.1 Income from Activities

2013 2012

£000s £000s

GB / Republic of Ireland Health Authorities 0 0 

HSC Trusts 1,115 1,159 

Non-HSC:- Private patients 0 0 

Non-HSC:- Other 400 417 

Clients contributions 0 0 

Total 1,515 1,576 

5.2 Other Operating Income
2013 2012

£000s £000s

Other income from non-patient services 342 132 

Seconded staff 0 0 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 0 0 

Donations / Government grant / Lottery funding for non current assets 0 0 

Profit on disposal of land 0 0 

Interest receivable 0 0 

Total 342 132 

5.3 Deferred income
2013 2012

£000s £000s

Income released from conditional grants 0 0 

Total 0 0 

TOTAL INCOME 1,857 1,708 

+ NIAS HSC TRUST ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 + 71

Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2013[               ]



Note 6 
Property, Plant + Equipment

6.1 Property, Plant & Equipment - Year ended 31 March 2013

Buildings Assets Plant and Information
(excluding under Machinery Transport Technology Furniture

Land dwellings) Construction (Equipment) Equipment (IT) and Fittings Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Cost or Valuation

At 1 April 2012 1,203 7,869 947 5,780 22,036 1,175 235 39,245 

Indexation 0 0 0 70 778 21 4 873 

Additions 0 6 997 158 2,413 314 0 3,888 

Donations / Government grant /
Lottery funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassifications 0 0 (947) 6 947 0 0 6 

Transfers 0 0 0 0 48 0 0 48 

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to the SoCNE (31) (55) 0 0 0 0 0 (86)

Impairment charged to 

the revaluation reserve (90) (222) 0 0 0 0 0 (312)

Reversal of impairments (indexn) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 0 0 0 (656) (5,139) (66) 0 (5,861)

At 31 March 2013 1,082 7,598 997 5,358 21,083 1,444 239 37,801 

Depreciation

At 1 April 2012 0 528 0 3,468 9,883 390 47 14,316 

Indexation 0 0 0 42 401 5 1 449 

Reclassifications 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 

Transfers 0 0 0 0 48 0 0 48 

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to the SoCNE 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to

the revaluation reserve 0 (19) 0 0 0 0 0 (19)

Reversal of impairments (indexn) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 0 0 0 (655) (5,131) (67) 0 (5,853)

Provided during the year 0 207 0 753 2,748 197 14 3,919 

At 31 March 2013 0 716 0 3,609 7,949 525 62 12,861 

Carrying Amount

At 31 March 2013 1,082 6,882 997 1,749 13,134 919 177 24,940

At 31 March 2012 1,203 7,341 947 2,312 12,153 785 188 24,929 

Asset Financing

Owned 1,082 6,882 997 1,749 13,134 919 177 24,940 

Finance leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

On B/S (SoFP) PFI and other service

concession arrangements contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Carrying Amount

At 31 March 2013 1,082 6,882 997 1,749 13,134 919 177 24,940

Any fall in value through negative indexation or revaluation is shown as an impairment.

The total amount of depreciation charged in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure Account in respect of assets held under

finance leases and hire purchase contracts is £nil (2012 £nil).

During the year the Trust had no assets funded from donations, government grants or lottery funding.
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6.2 Property, Plant & Equipment - Year ended 31 March 2012

Buildings Assets Plant and Information
(excluding under Machinery Transport Technology Furniture

Land dwellings) Construction (Equipment) Equipment (IT) and Fittings Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Cost or Valuation

At 1 April 2012 1,267 7,592 2,776 6,317 20,564 1,094 235 39,845 

Indexation 0 277 0 567 0 0 0 844 

Additions 0 0 947 0 2,220 267 0 3,434 

Donations / Government grant /
Lottery funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassifications 0 0 (2,776) 41 2,776 0 0 41 

Transfers 0 0 0 0 (2,113) 0 0 (2,113)

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to the SoCNE (16) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (16)

Impairment charged to 

the revaluation reserve (48) 0 0 0 0 (15) 0 (63)

Reversal of impairments (indexn) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 0 0 0 (1,145) (1,411) (171) 0 (2,727)

At 31 March 2013 1,203 7,869 947 5,780 22,036 1,175 235 39,245 

Depreciation

At 1 April 2011 0 303 0 3,523 11,074 383 33 15,316 

Indexation 0 11 0 316 0 0 0 327 

Reclassifications 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 3 

Transfers 0 0 0 0 (2,113) 0 0 (2,113)

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to the SoCNE 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to

the revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0 0 (2) 0 (2)

Reversal of impairments (indexn) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 0 0 0 (1,145) (1,410) (171) 0 (2,726)

Provided during the year 0 214 0 771 2,332 180 14 3,511 

At 31 March 2012 0 528 0 3,468 9,883 390 47 14,316 

Carrying Amount

At 31 March 2012 1,203 7,341 947 2,312 12,153 785 188 24,929 

At 1 April 2011 1,267 7,289 2,776 2,794 9,490 711 202 24,529 

Asset Financing

Owned 1,203 7,341 947 2,312 12,153 785 188 24,929 

Finance leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

On B/S (SoFP) PFI and other service

concession arrangements contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Carrying Amount

At 31 March 2012 1,203 7,341 947 2,312 12,153 785 188 24,929 
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Note 7 
Intangible Assets

7.1 Intangible Assets - Year ended 31 March 2013

Payments on 
Software Information Development Account & Assets
Licenses Technology Websites Expenditure under Construction Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Cost or Valuation

At 1 April 2012 85 0 30 0 0 115 

Indexation 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Donations / Government grant /

Lottery funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to the SoCNE 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to

the revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2013 85 0 30 0 0 115 

Amortisation

At 1 April 2012 66 0 5 0 0 71 

Indexation 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to the SoCNE 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to

the revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Provided during the year 12 0 5 0 0 17 

At 31 March 2013 78 0 10 0 0 88 

Carrying Amount

At 31 March 2013 7 0 20 0 0 27 

At 31 March 2012 19 0 25 0 0 44 

Asset Financing

Owned 7 0 20 0 0 27 

Finance leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 

On B/S (SoFP) PFI and other service

concession arrangements contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Carrying Amount

At 31 March 2013 7 0 20 0 0 27 

Any fall in value through negative indexation or revaluation is shown as an impairment.

During the year the Trust had no assets funded from donations, government grants or lottery funding.
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7.2 Intangible Assets - Year ended 31 March 2012

Payments on 
Software Information Development Account & Assets
Licenses Technology Websites Expenditure under Construction Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Cost or Valuation

At 1 April 2011 85 0 30 0 0 115 

Indexation 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Donations / Government grant /

Lottery funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to the SoCNE 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to

the revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2012 85 0 30 0 0 115 

Amortisation

At 1 April 2011 49 0 5 0 0 49 

Indexation 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to the SoCNE 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment charged to

the revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Provided during the year 17 0 5 0 0 22 

At 31 March 2012 66 0 5 0 0 71 

Carrying Amount

At 31 March 2012 19 0 25 0 0 44 

At 31 March 2011 36 0 30 0 0 66 

Asset Financing

Owned 19 0 25 0 0 44 

Finance leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 

On B/S (SoFP) PFI and other service

concession arrangements contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Carrying Amount

At 31 March 2012 19 0 25 0 0 44 
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Note 8 
Financial Instruments

8.1   Financial Instruments

As the cash requirements of the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust are met through Grant-in-

Aid provided by the Department of Health, Social Sevices and Public Safety, financial instruments play a

more limited role in creating and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The

majority of the Trusts financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with the

Trusts expected purchase and usage requirements and the Trust is therefore exposed to little credit,

liquidity or market risk.

The Trust did not have any financial instruments at either 31 March 2013 or 31 March 2012.
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Note 9 
Assets Classified as Held for Sale

9.1   Assets Classified as Held for Sale

Transport
2013 2012
£000s £000s

Cost 

At 1 April 2,451 848 

Transfers in 102 2,113 

Transfers out (150) 0 

(Disposals) (2,301) (510)

Impairment 0 0 

At 31 March 102 2,451 

Depreciation

At 1 April 2,451 848 

Transfers in 102 2,113 

Transfers out (150) 0 

(Disposals) (2,301) (510)

Impairment 0 0 

At 31 March 102 2,451 

Carrying Amount at 31 March 0 0 

Non current assets held for sale comprise non current assets that are held for resale rather than for continuing
use within the business.

At 31 March 2013 non current assets held for resale comprise A&E Ambulances and other support vehicles.

Due to the specification of ambulance vehicles, their age and high mileage, the resale market is uncertain and
most vehicles are sold through auction houses or a contract with the Ministry of Defence.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, vehicles with a fair value (less costs to sell) of £10,007 (2012: £1,632) and
general equipment with a fair value (less costs to sell) of £nil (2012: £nil) and IT equipment with a fair value
(less costs to sell) of £nil (2012: £nil) were sold.

The assets are valued at the lower of their carrying value (representing net book value) and fair value (less costs
to sell).
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Note 10 
Impairments

10.1 Impairments
2013

Property, Plant Intangibles Total

& Equipment

£000s £000s £000s

Total value of impairments for the period 379 0 379 

Impairments which revaluation reserve covers

(shown in Other Comprehensive Expenditure Statement) (293) 0 (293)

Impairments Charged / (Credited) to Statement of 86 0 86

Comprehensive Net Expenditure 

2012

Property, Plant Intangibles Total

& Equipment

£000s £000s £000s

Total value of impairments for the period 77 0 

Impairments which revaluation reserve covers

(shown in Other Comprehensive Expenditure Statement) (61) 0 (61)

Impairments Charged / (Credited) to Statement of 16 0 16

Comprehensive Net Expenditure 
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Note 11 
Inventories

11.1 Inventories
2013 2012

£000s £000s

Pharmacy supplies 0 0 

Theatre equipment 0 0 

Building & engineering supplies 0 0 

Fuel 11 16 

Community care appliances 0 0 

Laboratory materials 0 0 

Stationery 12 8 

Laundry 0 0 

X-Ray 0 0 

Stock held for resale 0 0 

Orthopaedic equipment 0 0 

Heat, light and power 0 0 

Medical & surgical equipment 58 38 

Other 14 15 

Total 95 77 
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Note 12 
Trade Receivables + Other Current Assets

12.1 Trade Receivables + Other Current Assets

2013 2012

£000s £000s

Amounts Falling Due Within One Year

Trade receivables 117 52 

Deposits and advances 0 0 

VAT receivable 461 295 

Other receivables - not relating to fixed assets 70 42 

Other receivables - relating to property plant and equipment 0 0 

Other receivables - relating to intangibles 0 0 

Trade and Other Receivables 648 389 

Prepayments and accrued income 239 94 

Current part of PFI and other service concession arrangements prepayment 0 0 

Other Current Assets 239 94 

Carbon reduction commitment 0 0 

Intangible Current Assets 0 0 

Amounts Falling Due After More Than One Year

Trade receivables 0 0 

Deposits and advances 0 0 

Other receivables 0 0 

Trade and Other Receivables 0 0 

Prepayments and accrued income 0 0 

Other Current Assets Falling Due After More Than One Year 0 0 

TOTAL TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 648 389 

TOTAL OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 239 94 

TOTAL INTANGIBLE CURRENT ASSETS 0 0 

TOTAL RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 887 483 

The balances are net of a provision for bad debts of £nil (2012 £nil).
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12.2 Trade Receivables and Other Current Assets: Intra-Government Balances 

Amounts Amounts Amounts Amounts
falling due falling due falling due falling due
within 1 within 1 after more after more
year year than 1 year than 1 year

2012/13 2011/12 2012/13 2011/12
£000s £000s £000s £000s

Balances with:

Other central government bodies 546 348 0 0 

Local authorities 4 4 0 0 

NHS /HSC Trusts 45 15 0 0 

Public corporations and trading funds 0 0 0 0 

Intra-government Balances 595 367 0 0 

Balances with bodies external to government 292 116 0 0 

Total Receivables and Other Current Assets at 31 March 887 483 0 0 
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Note 13 
Cash + Cash Equivalents

13.1 Cash + Cash Equivalents
2013 2012
£000s £000s

Balance at 1st April 95 98 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 18 (3)

Balance at 31st March 113 95 

The following balances at 31 March were held at 2013 2012
£000s £000s

Commercial banks and cash in hand 113 95 

Balance at 31st March 113 95 
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Note 14 
Trade Payables + Other Current Liabilities

14.1 Trade Payables + Other Current Liabilities
2013 2012
£000s £000s

Amounts Falling Due Within One Year
Other taxation and social security 1,048 1,025 
VAT payable 0 0 
Bank overdraft 0 0 
Trade capital payables - property, plant and equipment 2,086 2,661 
Trade capital payables - intangibles 0 260 
Trade revenue payables 1,151 1,003 
Payroll payables 2,357 2,981 
RPA payables 0 0 
BSO payables 92 98 
Other payables 2,168 1,443 
Accruals and deferred income 209 432 
Accruals and deferred income - relating to property, plant and equipment 0 0 
Accruals and deferred income - relating to intangibles 0 0 

Trade and Other Payables 9,111 9,903 

Current part of finance leases 0 0 
Current part of long term loans 0 0 
Current part of imputed finance lease element of on
balance sheet (SoFP) PFI and other service concession arrangements contracts 0 0 

Other Current Liabilities 0 0 

Carbon reduction commitment 0 0 

Intangible Current Liabilities 0 0 

Total Payables Falling Due Within One Year 9,111 9,903 

Amounts Falling Due After More Than One Year
Other payables, accruals and deferred income 0 0 
Trade and other payables 0 0 
Clinical negligence payables 0 0 
Finance leases 0 0 
Imputed finance lease element of on balance sheet (SoFP) PFI
and other service concession arrangements contracts 0 0 
Long term loans 2,261 2,261 

Total Non Current Other Payables 2,261 2,261 

TOTAL TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 11,372 12,164 
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14.2 Trade Payables + Other Current Liabilities - Intra-government Balances 

Amounts Amounts Amounts Amounts
falling due falling due falling due falling due
within 1 within 1 after more after more
year year than 1 year than 1 year

2012/13 2011/12 2012/13 2011/12
£000s £000s £000s £000s

Balances with:

Other central government bodies 1,870 1,786 2,261 2,261 

Local authorities 7 1 0 0 

NHS /HSC Trusts 528 626 0 0 

Public corporations and trading funds 1 1 0 0 

Intra-government Balances 2,406 2,414 2,261 2,261 

Balances with bodies external to government 6,705 7,489 0 0 

Total Payables and Other Liabilities at 31 March 9,111 9,903 2,261 2,261 

14.3 Trade Payables + Other Current Liabilities - Loans
Government Loans

2013 2012
£000s £000s

Amounts falling due:
In one year or less 0 0 
Between one and two years 0 0 
Between two and five years 2,261 2,261 
In five years or more 0 0 

Total 2,261 2,261 

2013 2012
£000s £000s

Wholly repayable within five years 2,261 2,261 
Wholly repayable after five years, not by instalments 0 0 
Wholly or partially repayable after five years by instalments 0 0 

Total 2,261 2,261 

Total repayable after five years by instalments 0 0 

Loans wholly or partially repayable after five years: 0 0 

Terms of Payment Interest
Rate

Originating Capital Debt 8.75%

84 + NIAS HSC TRUST ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 +

Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2013[               ] Note 14Trade Payables + Other Current Liabilities 



Note 15 
Prompt Payment Policy

15.1 Public Sector Payment Policy - Measure of Compliance

The Department requires that Trusts pay their non HSC trade creditors in accordance with the Better Payments Practice

Code and Government Accounting Rules. The Trust’s payment policy is consistent with the Better Payments Practice Code

and Government Accounting rules and its measure of compliance is:

2013 2013 2012 2012
Number Value Number Value

£000s £000s

Total bills paid 14,690 18,734 15,081 16,640 

Total bills paid within 30 day target or under agreed payment terms 13,503 16,365 14,700 16,285 

% of bills paid within 30 day target or under agreed payment terms 91.9% 87.4% 97.5% 97.9%

The Northern Ireland Executive is committed to paying suppliers as quickly as possible, within 10 working days.  The Trust’s

measure of compliance is:

Total bills paid within 10 working day target 3,467 9,616 5,378 9,692 

% of bills paid within 10 working day target 23.6% 51.3% 35.7% 58.2%

From 16 March 2013 EU Directive 2011/7/EU on Combating Late Payment in Commercial Transactions was implemented

through the Late Payment of Commercial Debts Regulations 2013. These regulations apply to all contracts made from 16

March 2013. They require all public bodies to pay suppliers for goods/services received within 30 days of receiving an undis-

puted invoice. The impact of this directive will take effect 30 days from 16 March 2013 (which is payment to be received by

14 April 2013) and the performance against the EU directive will be shown in the 2013-14 financial year accounts.

15.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts Regulations 2002

£

Amount of compensation paid for payment(s) being late 0

Amount of interest paid for payment(s) being late 0

Total 0
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Note 16 
Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

16.1 Provisions for Liabilities and Charges - 2013

Pensions
Relating to Pensions  
Former Relating to Clinical
Directors Other Staff Negligence Other 2013
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Balance at 1 April 2012 0 0 537 2,606 3,143 
Provided in year 0 0 10 427 437 
(Provisions not required written back) 0 0 (2) (56) (58)
(Provisions utilised in the year) 0 0 (1) (151) (152)
Cost of borrowing (unwinding of discount) 0 0 (10) 50 40 

At 31 March 2013 0 0 534 2,876 3,410 

Provisions have been made for 3 types of potential liability: Clinical Negligence, Employer’s and Occupier’s Liability, Injury
Benefit.  The provision for Injury Benefit relates to the future liabilities for the Trust based on information provided by the
HSC Superannuation Branch.  For Clinical Negligence, Employer’s and Occupier’s claims the Trust has estimated an
appropriate level of provision based on professional legal advice.

The Trust has no provisions relating to either the Review of Public Administration or the Comprehensive Spending Review.

16.2 Comprehensive Net Expenditure Account Charges
2013 2012
£000s £000s

Arising during the year 437 245 
Reversed unused (58) (104)
Cost of borrowing (unwinding of discount) 40 78 

Total Charge within Operating Expenses 419 219 

16.3 Analysis of Expected Timing of Discounted Flows - 2013

Pensions
Relating to Pensions  
Former Relating to Clinical
Directors Other Staff Negligence Other 2013
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Not later than one year 0 0 507 500 1,007 
Later than one year and not later than five years 0 0 27 409 436 
Later than five years 0 0 0 1,967 1,967 

At 31 March 2013 0 0 534 2,876 3,410 

The provision in respect of other liabilities and charges comprises £403k for Employer’s and Occupier’s Liability and £2,473k
for Injury Benefit. 
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16.4 Provisions for Liabilities and Charges - 2012

Pensions
Relating to Pensions  
Former Relating to Clinical
Directors Other Staff Negligence Other 2012
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Balance at 1 April 2011 0 0 526 2,997 3,523 
Provided in year 0 0 20 225 245 
(Provisions not required written back) 0 0 (31) (73) (104)
(Provisions utilised in the year) 0 0 0 (599) (599)
Cost of borrowing (unwinding of discount) 0 0 22 56 78 

At 31 March 2012 0 0 537 2,606 3,14

Provisions have been made for 3 types of potential liability: Clinical Negligence, Employer’s and Occupier’s Liability, Injury
Benefit.  The provision for Injury Benefit relates to the future liabilities for the Trust based on information provided by the
HSC Superannuation Branch.  For Clinical Negligence, Employer’s and Occupier’s claims the Trust has estimated an
appropriate level of provision based on professional legal advice.

The Trust has no provisions relating to either the Review of Public Administration or the Comprehensive Spending Review.

16.5 Analysis of Expected Timing of Discounted Flows - 2012

Pensions
Relating to Pensions  
Former Relating to Clinical
Directors Other Staff Negligence Other 2012
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Not later than one year 0 0 23 270 293 
Later than one year and not later than five years 0 0 514 387 901 
Later than five years 0 0 0 1,949 1,949 

At 31 March 2012 0 0 537 2,606 3,143 

The provision in respect of other liabilities and charges comprises £178k for Employer’s and Occupier’s Liability and £2,428k
for Injury Benefit. 
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Note 17 
Capital Commitments

17.1 Contracted Capital Commitments at 31 March not otherwise included in
these Financial Statements

2013 2012
£000s £000s

Property, plant & equipment 0 0 
Intangible assets 0 0 

0 0 

Note 18 
Commitments Under Leases

18.1 Operating Leases

Total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are given in the table below for each of the following
periods.

Obligations under Operating Leases Comprise: 2013 2012
£000s £000s

Land
Not later than 1 year 0 0 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0 0 
Later than 5 years 0 0 

0 0 
Buildings
Not later than 1 year 188 206 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 392 560 
Later than 5 years 70 97 

650 863 
Other
Not later than 1 year 0 0 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0 0 
Later than 5 years 0 0 

0 0 

Obligations under operating leases for Ambulance Stations are recorded fully under Buildings, as the leases do not
split the lease cost between land and buildings.

18.2 Finance Leases

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust has not entered into any finance leases as at 31 March 2013.

18.3 Operating Leases - Lessor Agreements

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust has not entered into any lessor agreements as at 31 March 2013.
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Note 19 
Commitments Under PFI + Other Service Consession
Arrangement Contracts

19.1 PFI Contracts

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust has not entered into any PFI contracts as at 31 March 2013.

Note 20 
Other FInancial Commitments

20.1 Other Financial Commitments

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust has not entered into any non cancellable contracts (which are
not leases or PFI and other service concession arrangements contracts) as at 31 March 2013.

Note 21 
Financial Guarantees, Indemnities and Letters of Comfort

21.1 Financial Guarantees, Indemnities and Letters of Comfort

The Trust has not entered into any of the following: quantifiable guarantees, indemnities or provided letters of
comfort. None of these are a contingent liability under the meaning of IAS37, since the likelihood of a transfer of
economic benefit in settlement is too remote.  They therefore fail to be measured following the requirements of
IAS39.  Managing public money requires that the full potential costs of such contracts be reported. 
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Note 22 
Contingent Liabilities

22.1 Contingent Liabilities

Material contingent liabilities are noted in the table below, where there is a 50% or less probability that a payment
will be required to settle any possible obligations. The amounts or timing of any outflow will depend on the merits of
each case.

2013 2012
£000s £000s

Clinical negligence 9 7 
Public liability 0 0 
Employers’ liability 0 0 
Accrued leave 0 0 
Injury benefit 12 0 
Other 0 0 

Total 21 7 

The contingent liability for injury benefit relates to employee applications to the DHSSPS outstanding as at the 31
March (1 in 2013 and none in 2012).  The estimated financial impact if approved would be an annual charge to the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (£1k in 2013 and £nil in 2012) and an increase in provisions (£12k in
2013 and £nil in 2012).  Uncertainties relate to the DHSSPS application process, the pension figures approved and the
remaining life of the applicants.

The Trust continues with the agreed process in respect of Agenda for Change in partnership with Trade Unions.
However, at this stage, there remain uncertainties over the outcome of the process and the Trust cannot establish the
extent to which claims that could be made, nor can it make a reliable estimate of any potential claims under
employment legislation that may arise.  The Trust therefore, recognises this as a contingent liability under IAS 37.
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Note 23 
Related Party Transactions

23.1 Related Party Transactions

The Trust is required to disclose details of transactions with individuals who are regarded as related parties consistent
with the requirements of IAS24 - Related Party Transactions.  This disclosure is recorded in the Trust’s Register of Interests
which is maintained by the Office of the Director of Finance and is available for inspection by members of the public.

During the year, none of the board members, members of the key management staff or other related parties has
undertaken any material transactions with the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust.

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust is an arms length body of the Department of Health, Social
Services and Public Safety and as such the Department is a related party and the ultimate controlling parent with
which the Trust has had various material transactions during the year.  During the year the Northern Ireland
Ambulance Service HSC Trust has had a number of material transactions with other entities for which the Department
is regarded as the ultimate controlling parent.  These entities include the Health and Social Care Board, the other five
HSC Trusts and the Business Services Organisation.

Note 24 
Third Party Assets

24.1 Third Party Assets

The Trust held £nil cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2013 which relates to monies held by the Trust on behalf of
patients (2012 £nil).  The Trust does not hold any monies on behalf of patients due to the nature of the service
provided.
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Note 25 
Financial Performance Targets

25.1 Revenue Resource Limit

The Trust is given a Revenue Resource Limit which it is not permitted to overspend.

The Revenue Resource Limit (RRL) for the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust is calculated as follows:

2013 2012
Total Total
£000s £000s

HSCB 57,449 57,391 
PHA 12 47 
SUMDE & NIMDTA 0 0 
DHSSPS ( excludes non cash) 0 54 
Other Government Departments 0 0 
Non cash RRL (from DHSSPS) 4,212 3,167 
Adjustment for income received re Donations / Government grant /
Lottery funding for non current assets 0 0 

Total Revenue Resource Limit to Statement Comprehensive Net Expenditure 61,673 60,659 

25.2 Capital Resource Limit

The Trust is given a Capital Resource Limit (CRL) which it is not permitted to overspend.

2013 2012
Total Total
£000s £000s

Gross capital expenditure 3,888 3,434 

(Receipts from sales of fixed assets) 0 0 

Net capital expenditure 3,888 3,434 

Capital Resource Limit 3,950 3,435 

Overspend / (Underspend) against CRL (62) (1)
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25.3 Break Even Performance

The Trust is required to ensure that it breaks even on an  annual basis by containing its net expenditure to
within 0.25 % of RRL limits.

2012/13 2011/12
£000s £000s

Net Expenditure (61,649) (60,582)

RRL 61,673 60,659 

Surplus  / (Deficit) against RRL 24 77 

Break Even cumulative position (opening) 676 599 

Break Even Cumulative Position (Closing) 700 676 

Materiality Test:
2012/13 2011/12
% %

Break Even in year position as % of RRL 0.04% 0.13%

Break Even cumulative position as % of RRL 1.14% 1.11%

The Department recognises a material surplus or deficit as 0.25% of RRL. The in year break even position is therefore
not considered material for any of the last 5 years.  The cumulative position at 31 March 2013 is £700k (1.14% of total
revenue), which is considered material.  This amount is the cumulative effect of non material surpluses building each
year since the inception of the Trust.
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Note 26 
Losses and Special Payments

26.1 Analysis of Losses and Special Payments

Type of Loss & Special Payment 2012-13 2011-12
Number 
of Cases £ £

Cash Losses
Cash Losses - Theft, fraud etc 0 0 0 
Cash Losses - Overpayments of salaries, wages and allowances 0 0 0 
Cash Losses - Other causes 0 0 0 

0 0 0 
Claims Abandoned

Waived or abandoned claims 0 0 0 
0 0 0 

Administrative Write-offs
Bad debts 0 0 0 
Other 0 0 0 

0 0 0 
Fruitless Payments

Late Payment of Commercial Debt                0 0 0 
Other fruitless payments and constructive losses 5 649 1,088 

5 649 1,088 
Stores Losses

Losses of accountable stores through any deliberate act 0 0 0 
Other stores losses 0 0 0 

0 0 0 
Special Payments

Compensation payments
-  Clinical Negligence 0 0 0 
-  Public Liability 1 5,000 0 
-  Employers Liability 6 33,750 58,112 
-  Other 0 0 0 

7 38,750 58,112 

Ex-gratia payments 0 0 1,595 

Extra contractual 0 0 0 

Special severance payments 0 0 0 

TOTAL 12 39,399 60,795

26.2 Special Payments

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust did not make any special payments or gifts during the year.
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26.3 Other Payments

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust did not make any other payments during the year.

26.4 Losses and Special Payments over £250,000

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service HSC Trust did not make any individual payments for losses and special
payments over £250k during the year.

Note 27 
Post Balance Sheet Events

27.1 Post Balance Sheet Events

There are no post balance sheet events which have a material effect on the accounts.

Note 28 
Date Authorised for Issue

28.1 Date Authorised for Issue

The Accounting Officer authorised these financial statements for issue on 25 June 2013.
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